University of Alberta

Characterization of chemokine CCL19 in the duck (Anas platyrhynchos)

by

Vidya Natarajan

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

in

Physiology and Cell Biology

Department of Biological Sciences

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall 2006

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-47635-2 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-47635-2

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



To my parents

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Abstract

A sequence with similarity to mammalian chemokine CCL19 was identified in an expressed sequence tag project to identify duck genes relevant to immunity. Mammalian CCL19 recruits antigen presenting cells and lymphocytes to the secondary lymphoid organs. Northern hybridization indicated significant expression of the transcript in spleen and lung. Southern blot analysis showed two hybridizing bands, suggesting CCL19 most likely exists in two copies in the duck genome. The sequence encoding the mature protein was directionally cloned into the pET29b vector with a 6X Histidine-tag at the carboxyl terminus. Recombinant duck CCL19 made in a bacterial expression system was purified by affinity column chromatography and tested for biological activity *in vitro*. A gradient of CCL19 attracted duck peripheral blood leukocytes in a transwell migration assay.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Kathy Magor for giving me an opportunity to develop and pursue my scientific research interests in her lab. I am grateful to my committee members Dr. John Samuel, Dr. Mike Belosevic and Dr. Klaus Gutfreund for their valuable input and critical feedback in my research. I would also like to express my gratitude to our technician Debra Moon for all the technical advice and help. Members of the lab, past and present deserve a special mention for being a constant source of encouragement. This endeavour would not have been possible without the love and support from my immediate family and friends.

Table of Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	
1.1	Chemokines	1
1.2	Brief evolutionary history of chemokines	4
1.3	Molecular organization of the chemokines	6
1.4	Structural biology of chemokines	7
1.5	Chemokine receptors	11
1.6	Mechanism of chemotaxis	13
1.7	Introduction to CCL19	14
1.8	Identification of CCL19 and CCR7	16
1.9	Structure of CCL19	16
1.10	Mechanism of ligand-receptor interaction	17
1.11	Vertebrate CCL19 and CCL21	18
1.12	Chicken chemokines	21
1.13	Functional role of CCL19	22
1.14	CCL19 as a vaccine adjuvant	24
1.15	The DHBV model	27
1.16	Hypothesis and rationale	29

2. METHODS

.

2.1	Ducks and Duck PBMCs	31
2.2	Clone identification and sequence analysis	31
2.3	CCL19 probe preparation	32
2.4	Northern hybridization	33
2.5	Southern hybridization	33
2.6	Production and purification of recombinant CCL19	34
2.7	Chemotaxis assays	35
2.8	Quantification of LPS	37

3. RESULTS

3.1	Identification of a duck homologue of CCL19	38
3.2	Production and purification of recombinant CCL19	45
3.3	Chemotactic activity of recombinant CCL19	50
4.	DISCUSSION	56
4.1	Characterization of a duck homologue of CCL19	56
4.1.1	Eukaryotic expression of recombinant CCL19	62
4.1.2	Characterization of duck CCR7	64
4.1.3	Therapeutic potential of CCL19	66

,

5.	REFERENCES	72
----	------------	----

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

List of Tables

Table 1.	Systematic nomenclature of chemokines	3
Table 2.	List of primers used for sequencing CCL19	32

.

List of Figures

Fig. 1. Monomeric structure of the chemokine CXCL8.	8
Fig. 2. Full length nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequence of duck CC chemokine CCL19.	39
Fig. 3. Amino acid alignment of duck CCL19 with other related CC chemokine sequences.	41
Fig. 4. Phylogenetic analysis showing the relationship between different vertebrate CCL19 and CCL21.	42
Fig. 5. Northern blot analysis showing CCL19 expression in various duck tissues.	44
Fig. 6. Southern blot analysis indicating genomic organization of duck CCL19.	46
Fig. 7. SDS-PAGE analysis of recombinant CCL19.	47
Fig. 8. SDS-PAGE analysis of affinity purified recombinant CCL19.	48
Fig. 9. Western blot analysis of affinity purified recombinant CCL19.	49
Fig. 10. Migration of duck PBMCs in response to recombinant CCL19.	51
Fig. 11. Migration of duck PBMCs in the presence or absence of a gradient of recombinant CCL19.	52
Fig. 12. Migration of duck PBMCs towards recombinant CCL19 or recombinant β_2 microglobulin.	54
Fig. 13. Migration of duck PBMCs towards specified concentrations of recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin incubated with or without polymyxin B sulfate.	55

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

List of Abbreviations

Ag/Ags	Antigen/Antigens
APC	Antigen presenting cell
BLR	Burkitt's lymphoma receptor
CCL	Chemokine ligand
CCR	Chemokine receptor
CTL	Cytotoxic T cell
DC	Dendritic cell
DHBV	Duck hepatitis B virus
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
EBNA	Epstein-Barr virus encoded nuclear activator
EC	Extracellular
ECL	Extracellular loop
ELC	Epstein-Barr virus induced ligand chemokine
ELR	Glu-Leu-Arg
EST	Expressed sequence tag
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
GAG	Glycosaminoglycans
GDP	Guanine di-phosphate
GEF	Guanine nucleotide exchanging factor
GPCR	G protein coupled receptor
GTP	Guanine triphosphate
	Hand the Dation

HBV Hepatitis B virus

HBsAg	Hepatitis B surface antigens
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HEV	High endothelial venule
HPV	Human papilloma virus
HSV	Herpes simplex virus
HHSV	Human Herpes simplex virus
IC	Intracellular
ICL	Intracellular loop
IL	Interleukin
LN	Lymph node
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
МСР	Monocyte chemoattractant protein
MIP-3β	Macrophage inflammatory protein
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular patterns
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PBL	Peripheral blood leukocyte
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
RACE	Rapid amplification of cDNA ends
RT	Reverse transcriptase
TAA	Tumour associated antigen
TM	Transmembrane
	Tansmemorane

-

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Chemokines

The generation of protective immunity against pathogens and the effective maintenance of immune surveillance is manifested by the orchestrated movement of leukocytes within distinct microenvironments (Nagira et al. 1997; Dieu et al. 1998; Gunn et al. 1998; Forster et al. 1999; Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 2000). The key players in guiding the leukocytes through the tissues and peripheral lymphoid organs are small, secreted polypeptides known as chemokines (Ebert et al. 2005; Limatola et al. 2005). Chemokines are a family of specialized cytokines with a molecular weight of 8-12 kDa, that primarily mediate leukocyte trafficking under basal and inflammatory conditions (reviewed by Fernandez and Lolis 2002; Campbell et al. 2003; Gunn 2003; Laing and Secombes 2004; Moser et al. 2004). All the chemokines are structurally related and characterized by the presence of highly conserved cysteine domains. The entire chemokine family is classified into CC, CXC, CX₃C and C subtypes based on the configurations of the cysteine residues at the amino terminus [Table 1] (Rossi and Zlotnik 2000; Fernandez and Lolis 2002).

Chemokines possess diverse biological functions (Campbell et al. 2001; Reiss et al. 2001). Based on their function and expression, chemokines are subdivided into two categories – constitutive and inflammatory or inducible (Moser and Loetscher 2001; Kunkel and Butcher 2002). The former are constitutively expressed in the secondary lymphoid tissues and serve a

housekeeping function. They facilitate lymphocyte homing into the lymphoid organs to undergo activation and also maintain homeostasis ie. the number of lymphocytes circulating between the tissues and the peripheral lymphoid organs (Campbell et al. 1999; Peled et al. 1999; Zabel et al. 1999; Kunkel and Butcher 2002; Uehara et al. 2002). The inflammatory or inducible chemokines serve as the principal molecular cues in navigating specific subsets of leukocytes between the tissues and secondary lymphoid organs in inflammatory immune responses. Their expression is strongly upregulated in the peripheral tissues in response to inflammatory stimuli like LPS, IL-1 and TNF- α (Luster and Ravetch 1987; Sherry et al. 1988; Leonard and Yoshimura 1990; Schall et al. 1990; Bazzoni et al. 1991; Jose et al. 1994).

The ability of leukocytes to respond to chemokines by sensing the chemotactic gradients is conferred by chemokine receptors. They are members of the 7 transmembrane spanning G protein coupled receptors (Rollins 1997; Rossi and Zlotnik 2000). The differential expression of chemokine receptors on any given leukocyte type directs their entry from the peripheral tissues into the lymph node (Sozzani et al. 1998; Ohl et al. 2004; Bromley et al. 2005; Debes et al. 2005). Certain chemokines belonging to the CXC group are also involved in angiogenesis/angiostasis (Koch et al. 1992; Strieter et al. 1995; Karl et al. 2005) as well as tumour growth and metastasis (Arenberg et al. 1997; Luan et al. 1997). Thus, the regulated expression of chemokines and chemokine receptors aid leukocyte development, maintain leukocyte homeostasis and control leukocyte trafficking in order to sustain immunity.

Chemokine nomenclature	1
Chemokine	Receptor
CC chemokines	
CCL1	CCR8
CCL2	CCR2
CCL3	CCR1,CCR5
CCL4	CCR5
CCL4 CCL5	CCR1,CCR3,CCR5
	CCR1,CCR3,CCR3
CCL7	CCR3
CCL8	
CCL11	CCR3
CCL13	CCR2,CCR3
CCL14	CCR1
CCL15	CCR1,CCR3
CCL16	CCR1
CCL17	CCR4
CCL18	Unknown
CCL19	CCR7
CCL20	CCR6
CCL21	CCR7
CCL22	CCR4
CCL23	CCR1
CCL24	CCR3
CCL25	CCR9
CCL26	CCR3
CCL27	CCR10
CXC chemokines	
CXCL1	CXCR2,CXCR1
CXCL2	CXCR2
CXCL3	CXCR2
CXCL4	Unknown
CXCL5	CXCR2
CXCL6	CXCR1,CXCR2
CXCL7	CXCR2
CXCL8	CXCR1,CXCR2
CXCL9	CXCR3
CXCL10	CXCR3
CXCL10	
	CXCR3
CXCL12	CXCR4
CXCL13	CXCR5
CXCL14	Unknown
C chemokine	
XCL1	XCR1
XCL2	XCR1
CX3C chemokine	
CX3CL1	CX3CR1

Table 1. Systematic nomenclature of chemokines

1.2 Brief evolutionary history of chemokines

The origin and evolutionary history of chemokines has been traced back to about 650 million years ago [mya] in early vertebrates (DeVries et al. 2006). The chemokine system has been completely characterized and extensively described only in mice and humans (Muller et al. 1995; Imai et al. 1996; Nagira et al. 1997; Rossi et al. 1997; Nakano et al. 1998; Ngo et al. 1998; Vassileva et al. 1999; Stein et al. 2000; Nakano and Gunn 2001). With the advent of bioinformatics and using an expressed sequence tag [EST] based approach, about 42 chemokines and 18 chemokine receptors have been identified in humans (Rollins 1997; Rossi and Zlotnik 2000; Laing and Secombes 2004; DeVries et al. 2006). Apart from mice and humans, about 25 different C, CC, CXC and CX₃C chemokines have been identified in the rhesus monkey (Basu et al. 2002). Overall, there is an indication of evolutionary conservation among the chemokine subfamilies across different mammalian vertebrate species.

However, the chemokines are not well characterized in non mammalian vertebrates. There have been a few reports in fishes suggesting that chemokines originated early in the evolution of vertebrates (Lally et al. 2003; Laing and Secombes 2004; Mackenzie et al. 2004; Baoprasertkul et al. 2005; Goostrey et al. 2005; Inoue et al. 2005; Peatman et al. 2005; Peatman et al. 2005). EST databases in channel catfish and blue catfish have revealed many CC and CXC chemokines as multiple ESTs (He et al. 2004). A number of putative chemokines have been identified and reported from the draft genome of zebrafish (DeVries et al. 2006). Although there are more chemokines and chemokine receptors than found in mice

and humans, the data are fragmentary. Several chemokines such as CCL1, CCL3, CCL6, CCL7, CCL8, CX₃CL1 reported in humans and mice are lacking in zebrafish. It is interesting to note that many of these chemokines are involved in T cell differentiation and the initiation of T helper (Th₂) type of immune responses (DeVries et al. 2006). A similar analysis on the pufferfish genome indicated fewer chemokines and chemokine receptors (Aparicio et al. 2002).

The birds and mammals shared a common ancestor about 310 mya (Kumar and Hedges 1998). The chicken draft genome and the availability of the chicken EST database have facilitated the systematic identification, characterization and annotation of chemokine and chemokine receptor genes in the chicken genome (Wang et al. 2005; DeVries et al. 2006). About 23 chemokines encompassing the C, CC, CXC and CX₃C subfamilies and 14 chemokine receptors have been reported in the chicken (Hughes and Bumstead 2000; Sick et al. 2000; Hughes et al. 2001; Smith et al. 2004; Kaiser et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2005). The phylogenetic analyses suggested that most of the chicken chemokine and chemokine receptor genes shared a common ancestry with the mouse and human chemokine and chemokine receptor families. Also, there were significantly more gene duplications among the CC, CXC, CCR and CXCR subfamilies in mammals than in aves after their divergence (Kaiser et al. 1999; Hillier et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2005). Among the other birds, only three different chemokines namely CCL4, CCL5 and RANTES have been identified in ducks (Sreekumar et al. 2005).

1.3 Molecular organization of the chemokine system - classification and nomenclature based on structure

Chemokines are structurally related proteins with most members containing four invariant cysteines at the amino terminus (Rollins 1997; Laing and Secombes 2004). They are classified into two large subgroups CC, CXC and two small subgroups C and CX₃C based on the number and arrangement of the cysteine residues [Table 1] (Baysal and Atilgan 2001; Fernandez and Lolis 2002). The members of the CXC and CX₃C subgroups contain one or three amino acids respectively in between the cysteine residues. Among the CC chemokines, the cysteine residues are located adjacent to each other. The C chemokine lymphotactin, is exceptional since it contains only a single cysteine residue in the N terminal domain. Another exception is fractalkine, an integral membrane protein which has three amino acids intervening between the first two cysteines (Rollins 1997; Rossi and Zlotnik 2000). The CXC chemokines are further subdivided into ELR and non-ELR subtypes. The ELR chemokines contain a three amino acid motif comprising of glutamate, leucine and arginine between the N terminus and the first cysteine, example - CXCL8 which recruits neutrophils (Baggiolini et al. 1994; Laing and Secombes 2004). The non-ELR CXC chemokines recruit different subsets of lymphocytes (Rollins 1997; Fernandez and Lolis 2002). Some of the genes encoding chemokines have been mapped and are found to cluster together at specific loci. In humans, the CC chemokines cluster at chromosome 17q11.2-12 and the CXC chemokine genes at 4q13 (Rollins 1997).

1.4 Structural biology of chemokines

NMR and X ray crystallography have enabled elucidation of the tertiary structure of certain chemokines. The mature chemokine domains are usually about 66-111 amino acids in length. Despite low sequence identities ranging from 20%-30% between the different chemokine subfamilies, the tertiary structure of all chemokines are remarkably similar [Fig1]. The tertiary structure is composed of three antiparallel β strands; β_1 , β_2 and β_3 folded and packed by hydrophobic interactions against an amphipathic C terminal α helix (Ye et al. 1999; Baysal and Atilgan 2001; Ye et al. 2001; Handel et al. 2005). The region before the β_1 strand is divided into two segments, containing a disorganized N terminus and a comparatively well organized N - loop. These two segments are connected by a short peptide domain containing two to five amino acid residues terminated on each side by two of the four conserved cysteines. The section connecting the β_1 and β_2 strands is known as the 30s loop and has been implicated in receptor binding and/or activity. The loop connecting the β_2 and β_3 strands is called the 40s loop. (Clark-Lewis et al. 1994; Clark-Lewis et al. 1995; Baysal and Atilgan 2001; Rajarathnam et al. 2001). The unordered N terminal domain is usually variable in length and is critical for receptor activation (Ott et al. 2004 a; Ott et al. 2004 b). In the CXC chemokines, the ELR motif is located in this region (Clark-Lewis et al. 1994; Clark-Lewis et al. 1995). The C terminal α helix is highly basic in most chemokines and usually contains amino acid residues that bind to glycosaminoglycans [GAGs].



Fig. 1. Monomeric structure of the chemokine CXCL8. This is a ribbon diagram of CXC chemokine CXCL8 in which the different secondary structure elements are labeled accordingly (Adapted from Fernandez and Lolis 2002).

Apart from binding to their cognate G protein coupled chemokine receptors on migrating cells, it has been postulated that chemokines bind to different kinds of immobilized gycosaminoglycans [GAGs] selectively, as a mechanism for retention at the cell surface and presentation to circulating leukocytes (Kuschert et al. 1999; Middleton et al. 2002; Shriver et al. 2002). The glycosaminoglycans are a family of anionic polysaccharides located on the endothelial surface and the extracellular matrix (McCornack et al. 2004; Handel et al. 2005; Johnson et al. 2005). The importance of chemokine-GAG interactions is supported by experimental observations that chemokines bind to purified GAGs in vitro and in vivo (Middleton et al. 1997; Ali et al. 2000; Middleton et al. 2002). The majority of chemokines are highly basic and presumably bind to the negatively charged GAGs by nonspecific electrostatic interactions. However, studies in CCL4 and CCL5 suggest that the interaction between the chemokines and GAGs is specific (Proudfoot et al. 2003). Specificity has been observed in the relative affinity of some chemokines for heparin and other members of the GAG family (Hoogewerf et al. 1997; Kuschert et al. 1998). The interaction of chemokines with GAGs has been used as a novel therapeutic intervention. Heparin has anti-inflammatory disease ameliorating properties (Lever and Page 2002). Although the exact mode of heparin action is not well established, it is hypothesized that the interaction between pro-inflammatory cytokines and membrane associated GAGs may induce clinical immunosuppression. It is likely that the anti-inflammatory effects of heparin are mediated partly by interference with chemokines (Douglas et al. 1997; Douglas et al. 1997; Johnson et al. 2004).

The formation of disulphide bonds is of paramount importance in the stabilization of tertiary structures of chemokines as well as their biological activities (Clark-Lewis et al. 1994; Clark-Lewis et al. 1995; Nardese et al. 2001; Rajarathnam et al. 2001). Chemokines are quite stable in biological fluids, partly due to the disulphide bridges formed between Cysteines 1 and 3, and Cysteines 2 and 4. (Clore and Gronenborn 1995). Some members of the CC chemokines namely CCL14, CCL15 and CCL21 possess a third disulphide bond connecting the C terminal α helix to the β strand. However this does not appear to be critical for protein folding or function (Hedrick and Zlotnik 1997; Hromas et al. 1997; Tanabe et al. 1997; Hromas et al. 1999; Forssmann et al. 2001).

Three major types of quartenary structures have been reported in chemokines, monomers, dimers and tetramers. There are two distinct kinds of dimers, the compact CXCL8 common to several CXC chemokines made up of a six strand antiparallel β sheet (Clark-Lewis et al. 1994; Clark-Lewis et al. 1995; Baysal and Atilgan 2001; Swaminathan et al. 2003) and the extended CCL4 type found in many CC chemokines containing an antiparallel β sheet arrangement between the N terminal domains and N loops of the monomers (Clore and Gronenborn 1995; Baysal and Atilgan 2001). Recent experimental evidence suggest that GAGs can induce dimerization at low chemokine concentrations (Ali et al. 2001; Forssmann et al. 2001). In particular, GAG induced dimerization of CCL2 is critical for pro-inflammatory functions *in vivo* (Proudfoot et al. 2003).

1.5 Chemokine receptors

The migration of specific leukocyte subsets in response to inflammatory stimuli or under basal conditions is tightly regulated by the differential expression of chemokines and chemokine receptors (Kuziel et al. 1997; Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 2000; Uehara et al. 2002; Bromley et al. 2005; Randolph et al. 2005; Randolph et al. 2005). Similar to the classification system of chemokines, the chemokine receptors are classified into four main families, CR, CCR, CXCR and CX₃CR that interact with C, CC, CXC and CX₃C chemokines respectively (Murphy 1994; Murphy et al. 2000). The chemokine receptors are G protein coupled, seven transmembrane receptors that range between ~340-370 amino acids in length and are present on the membrane of target cells that enable them to respond to chemotactic cues. The N terminus is extracellular and the C terminus is intracellular. There are seven predicted membrane spanning domains, three extracellular loops [ECL] and three intracellular loops [ICL] (Rossi and Zlotnik 2000; Ott et al. 2004; Ott et al. 2004). Although similar in structure to many other seven transmembrane receptors, chemokine receptors possess certain unique structural features namely the amino acid motif DRYLAIV in the second intracellular loop domain (Murphy 1994; Rossi and Zlotnik 2000). The intracellular and hydrophobic domains of the chemokine receptors are highly conserved across species while the extracellular domains are the least conserved. In addition to the sequence motif DRYLAIV in the ICL2, the chemokine receptors have other common features like the presence of an acidic and relatively

short N terminal segment, a short basic ICL3 and a cysteine in each of the four extracellular domains (Mayer and Stone 2001; Limatola et al. 2005).

The chemokine receptor-ligand interactions are very promiscuous, with every chemokine receptor binding to a number of different chemokine ligands [Table1]. The chemokine receptors belong to the G protein coupled receptor family [GPCR] (Gao et al. 1993; Murphy 1994; Combadiere et al. 1995; Tiffany et al. 1997). The biochemical pathways underlying chemokine receptor-ligand interactions have not been characterized very well due to the lack of chemokine specific reagents.

Most of the knowledge about chemokine signaling has been acquired from the information available on GPCR signaling. The G proteins are plasma membrane associated signal transducers consisting of an α subunit which binds the guanine nucleotides GDP or GTP, and a covalently linked $\beta\gamma$ heterodimer subunit (Mellado et al. 2001 a; Mellado et al. 2001 b). The standard caveat for initiation of intracellular signaling through GPCRs requires activation of the G protein pathway upon chemokine ligand binding to the receptor. In an inactive or resting state, the GDP is bound to the α subunit. Upon ligand binding and receptor dimerization, the receptor is transformed into a guanine nucleotide exchange factor [GEF] which catalyzes the exchange of GDP for GTP on the α subunit. This causes the G protein to dissociate into α and $\beta\gamma$ subunits thereby activating downstream effectors, namely the JAK/STAT cascade. The conformational changes imposed by ligand binding followed by dissociation of the heterotrimeric G protein complex results in the activation of intracellular signaling responses on distinct effector molecules. The α subunit has intrinsic GTPase activity which restores the GDP bound form of the α subunit and reassociates with the $\beta\gamma$ subunits, thus completing the cycle (Mellado et al. 2001 a; Mellado et al. 2001 b; Soriano et al. 2003). Chemokine receptor-ligand interactions culminate in the migration of leukocytes towards the source of the chemokine due to redistribution of the cell cytoskeleton.

1.6 Mechanism of chemotaxis

The migration of leukocytes in response to chemotactic gradients is critical for leukocyte function and has implications in the initiation of inflammatory immune responses. Cell migration is a complex process that begins with the acquisition of polarity marked by morphological changes and a migratory phenotype. During this process, filamentous actin is segregated and concentrated in two specific distinct regions of the cell, the leading edge and the uropod. The uropod is a pseudopodia like projection which is important in cell adhesion and motility. In migrating cells, adhesion molecules like L-Selectin, ICAM, PSGL-1, Mac-1 and CD43 are concentrated in the uropod. This promotes binding and interactions between the neighbouring cells, thus enabling leukocyte recruitment and transendothelial migration (Sanchez-Madrid and del Pozo 1999). The leading edge concentrates various receptors such as those for integrin, chemokine receptors CCR2, CCR5 and CXCR4 in lymphocytes. The redistribution of chemokine receptors to the leading edge of the cell is initiated by many chemokines and few cytokines like IL-2 and IL-15. The presence of chemokine

receptors at the leading edge are not only important to establish polarity but also help the migrating cell to detect the chemotactic gradient and orient the cell towards the source of the chemoattractant (del Pozo et al. 1997; Sanchez-Madrid and del Pozo 1999). The molecules involved in signal transduction coupled to the activated chemokine receptors are also localized at the leading edge, implying their role in signaling the cytoskeleton directly in order to initiate cell migration (Parent et al. 1998).

1.7 Introduction to CCL19

The CC chemokines or β chemokines as they are commonly known, are characterized by the presence of two consecutive cysteines in the N terminus (Rollins 1997; Moser et al. 2004). Most CC chemokines are potent chemoattractants for monocytes. They are also known to attract lymphocytes, basophils and/or eosinophils with variable specificity and potency. Generally, the CC chemokines contain four cysteines, but there are certain exceptions. Some chemokines within the CC subfamily contain six cysteines. These include CCL1, CCL15, CCL21, CCL23 and CCL28 (Wang et al. 2000; Laing and Secombes 2004). The position of all the four cysteine residues among the various members of the CC chemokine family are highly conserved. The CC chemokines are 20%-30% identical at the amino acid level across different vertebrate species (Yoshida et al. 1997). Bioinformatics has paved way for the identification of several members of the chemokine family. One such chemokine identified in a large database of expressed sequence tags [ESTs] is the CC chemokine CCL19, also

known as ELC [Epstein-Barr virus induced ligand chemokine] or MIP-3 β [macrophage inflammatory protein- 3 β] (Rossi et al. 1997). By screening ESTs derived from the cDNA library of mouse thymus, a mouse CC chemokine was identified. This chemokine sequence was used as a query sequence to perform TBLASTN searches against the dbEST database. As a result, several human ESTs were discovered, that formed a contig. BLASTX analysis of the consensus sequence revealed that it encoded a unique human chemokine with a CC motif. This chemokine was designated as MIP-3 β then, but according to the nomenclature system currently in use, it is now known as CCL19 (Rossi et al. 1997).

CCL19, a potent leukocyte chemoattractant is a small secreted polypeptide with a molecular weight of approximately 10-12 kDa. The mammalian homologues of CCL19 have been well characterized. In humans, CCL19 is constitutively expressed in the lymphoid tissues as established by Northern blot analysis. The thymus, appendix and lymph nodes have been revealed as exceptionally rich sources of CCL19 in humans (Rossi et al. 1997; Yoshida et al. 1997). In mice, CCL19 is significantly expressed in the spleen, peripheral lymph nodes and fairly expressed in the mesenteric lymph nodes. In particular, mouse CCL19 was found to be distributed in distinct T zone dendritic cells [DCs] of spleen and lymph node as determined by *in situ* hybridization analysis (Ngo et al. 1998).

CCL19 is a dual chemokine exhibiting a homeostatic function as well as serving as a proinflammatory peptide. It regulates the trafficking of naïve and some memory T lymphocytes, along with mature DCs into the T cell areas within the secondary lymphoid organs under resting and inflammatory conditions (Dieu et al. 1998; Ngo et al. 1998; Kunkel and Butcher 2002; Yoshida et al. 1998). The functional role of CCL19 is discussed in detail in section 1.13.

1.8 Identification of CCL19 and its cognate receptor CCR7

CCL19 was first reported in humans, named as EBI-1 ligand chemokine [ELC] (Yoshida et al. 1997). EBI-1, Epstein-Barr virus [EBV] induced gene was identified as an orphan, seven transmembrane spanning GPCR in strongly upregulated EBV-negative Burkitt lymphoma cell lines upon infection with EBV (Birkenbach et al. 1993). The same receptor was reported independently as Burkitt's lymphoma receptor 2 [BLR2] which was shown to be induced by EBV– encoded transactivator, EBNA-2 (Burgstahler et al. 1995). The gene encoding the receptor was later isolated from CD4 T cells that were infected with human herpes virus HHV6 and HHV7 (Hasegawa et al. 1994). It has been demonstrated that ELC specifically binds to EBI-1 with high affinity and induces chemotaxis and calcium mobilization in EBI-1 transfected cells (Yoshida et al. 1997). Thus, ELC or CCL19 was found to be the high affinity ligand for EBI-1, now termed as CCR7.

1.9 Structure of CCL19

As established by NMR and X-ray crystallography, all the CC chemokines have very similar three dimensional structures. A disordered N terminus that

precedes the conserved cysteines has been shown to be involved in stabilizing the active conformation of several CC chemokines. Following the conserved cysteines is the N-loop which terminates in one turn of a 3_{10} helix, a three stranded antiparallel β sheet and a C terminal α helix. The N terminus and the N-loop are tethered to the β sheet by the conserved disulphide bonds while the α helix lies in close proximity (Ott et al. 2004 a; Ott et al. 2004 b).

1.10 Mechanism of ligand binding and receptor interaction

Chemokines exert their biological effects through two separate sets of interactions namely interactions involved in high affinity binding and interactions critical for stabilizing the active conformation of the receptor. On the chemokine, the N-loop and loops connecting the antiparallel β strands are considered important for high affinity ligand binding. This has been demonstrated by the chemical synthesis of N-terminal analogues of CCL19. Successive truncations of the N-terminus of CCL19 resulted in decreased affinity of the receptor CCR7 for the ligand. The chemically synthesized N-terminal analogues of CCL19 were less potent in comparison to the wild type CCL19 in inducing chemotaxis of cell lines transfected with CCR7 (Ott et al. 2004 a). The N terminal regions are thought to interact with the extracellular domains of the receptor. The active conformation of the receptor is stabilized by low energy interactions between the N-terminal domain and the helix bundle of the receptor (Ott et al. 2004 b). However, the above mechanisms are not absolute for all chemokines and can vary in different members. For example, CCL19 contains residues involved in high affinity ligand

binding in the N terminus while the residues in the N-loop are implicated in receptor activation in CCL19 and CCL21. However, mutation of a lysine to alanine on CCR7 reduces CCL21 mediated receptor activation drastically by twenty two fold while CCL19 mediated activation is unimpaired. This indicates that there is at least one amino acid residue that distinguishes between interactions of CCL19 and CCL21 with CCR7 (Ott et al. 2004 a; Ott et al. 2004 b).

1.11 Vertebrate CCL19 and CCL21 - ligands of CCR7

A closely related vertebrate homologue of CCL19 is another CC chemokine CCL21 also known as secondary lymphoid-tissue chemokine [SLC] or Exodus 2 or Thymus-derived chemotactic agent 4 [TCA4]. The mammalian CCL21 homologues were first identified in an EST based approach and characterized (Hedrick and Zlotnik 1997; Hromas et al. 1997). The primary amino acid sequence of CCL21 is highly conserved among humans, mice and pigs. An important characteristic feature of CCL21 is the presence of an extremely basic, longer carboxy-terminal domain which is conserved in both mice and humans. Apart from the four cysteine residues found in the mature protein of all CC chemokines, the carboxyl terminus of CCL21 contains two additional cysteines. The disulphide bridge formed between these two cysteines result in the formation of a C terminal structure unique to CCL21. CCL19 lacks the additional highly basic C terminal domain found in CCL21 (Hedrick and Zlotnik 1997; Hromas et al. 1997). CCL19 and CCL21 are structurally related chemokines and both bind to the receptor CCR7 which is expressed primarily on

mature DCs and naïve T cells (Campbell et al. 1998; Yoshida et al. 1998). The amino acid sequence of CCR7 was aligned with the amino acid sequences of other chemokine receptors and known GPCRs to identify the residues important for receptor activation. Residues at the extracellular surface facing into the binding pocket were implicated in signal transduction. These residues were then mutated to alanines to establish their role in ligand binding, receptor activation and chemotaxis of cell lines transfected with CCR7. Apart from identifying the residues critical for receptor activation, these studies also showed that the sites on CCR7 involved in the binding of CCL19 were very different from those responsible for the binding of CCL21 (Ott et al. 2004 b).

CCL21 is significantly expressed by high endothelial venules [HEVs] in the lymph nodes and at relatively lower levels by a small fraction of stromal cells in the T cell zones of lymph nodes, spleen and Peyer's patches (Hromas et al. 1997; Gunn et al. 1998). CCL19 is expressed by a subset of DCs and stromal cells in the T cell areas of the secondary lymphoid tissues (Ngo et al. 1998). Both CCL19 and CCL21 are potent attractants of T lymphocytes while CCL21 also weakly attracts B cells (Campbell et al. 1998; Ngo et al. 1998). These findings have led to the theory that CCL21 enables the recruitment of naïve T cells across HEVs into the lymph node while CCL19 acts in concert with CCL21 in concentrating them in the T zones and promoting encounter between T zone DCs and T cells (Campbell et al. 1998; Ngo et al. 1998).

The chromosomal locations of the genes encoding CCL19 and CCL21 have been mapped in mice, humans and chickens (Nagira et al. 1997; Yoshida et

al. 1997; Nakano and Gunn 2001; Wang et al. 2005). Both genes are adjacent to each other on mouse chromosome 4 in a region of conserved synteny to human chromosome 9p13 and chicken chromosome Z (Nagira et al. 1997; Yoshida et al. 1997; Nakano and Gunn 2001; Wang et al. 2005). These observations are consistent with the possibility that CCL19 and CCL21 arose from a common ancestral gene as a result of gene duplication during the course of evolution.

The genomic organization of CCL19 and CCL21 has been well characterized in the *plt* mice. These mice are homozygous for the paucity of lymph node T cell mutation (Gunn et al. 1999; Stein et al. 2000). The plt mice do not express CCL21 in the secondary lymphoid tissues and exhibit marked defects in leukocyte migration and immune responses (Gunn et al. 1999; Vassileva et al. 1999). The plt locus was mapped to mouse chromosome 4 on which CCL19 and CCL21 are located. Southern blot analysis and sequencing of genomic clones revealed that there are at least three CCL21 genes and one functional CCL19 gene in the mouse genome (Nakano and Gunn 2001). Sequence analysis indicated that the sequences of the CCL21 gene were highly conserved with minor deletions relative to the consensus sequence. Another important feature observed was that the CCL21a contained a serine residue at amino acid position 65 whereas the CCL21b and CCL21c forms contained a leucine residue at the same position (Nakano and Gunn 2001). The *plt* mice lack CCL21 serine in the lymphoid tissues and express CCL21 in the non-lymphoid tissues, as confirmed by northern blot analysis (Vassileva et al. 1999). Four CCL19 genes were identified in the mouse genome but three of them were pseudogenes and only one gene had the

methionine codon ATG, thus being translated into a functional CCL19 protein (Nakano and Gunn 2001).

1.12 Brief description of chicken chemokines

The chicken draft genome and the availability of the chicken EST database have facilitated the systematic identification, characterization and annotation of chemokine and chemokine receptor genes in the chicken genome (Wang et al. 2005; DeVries et al. 2006). About 23 chemokines encompassing the C, CC, CXC and CX₃C subfamilies and 14 chemokine receptors have been reported in the chicken (Hughes and Bumstead 2000; Sick et al. 2000; Hughes et al. 2001; Smith et al. 2004; Kaiser et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2005). The phylogenetic analyses suggested that most of the chicken chemokine and chemokine receptor genes shared a common ancestry with the mouse and human chemokine and chemokine receptor families. Also, there were significantly more gene duplications among the CC, CXC, CCR and CXCR subfamilies in mammals than in aves after their divergence (Kaiser et al. 1999; Hillier et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2005). Among the other birds, only three different chemokines namely CCL4, CCL5 and RANTES have been identified in ducks but not functionally characterized (Sreekumar et al. 2005). Comparison of the chromosomal segments containing chemokines in the human, mouse and chicken suggest that the genomic organization of chemokines is generally conserved between chickens and mammals. The chicken CC chemokines are located on chromosomes 1, 4, 6,

9, 13, 19 and Z. Chicken CCL19 and CCL21 are located on chromosome Z. In terms of gene structure, according to the chicken genome sequence, chicken chemokines share the characteristic three exon CC structures with mammals. Also, chicken chemokines are shorter in comparison to human counterparts due to the presence of shorter introns (Kaiser et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2005).

1.13 Functional role of CCL19

The biological role of CCL19 was established by the discovery of a spontaneous mutant mouse that was deficient in CCL19 and CCL21(Luther et al. 2000). This mutant was called *plt*, for paucity of lymph node T cells. These mice were shown to have greatly reduced numbers of migrating T cells into lymph nodes, Peyer's patches and the regions of lymphoid tissue in the small intestine (Nakano and Gunn 2001). Genetic mapping studies revealed that the *plt* locus in mice was located in the same region of chromosome 4 as the genes for CCL19 and CCL21. Previous studies have shown that the *plt* mice lack CCL21 serine and have only one functional CCL21 gene (Nakano and Gunn 2001). In an another independent attempt to extend these findings it was shown that these *plt* mice lacked the CCL19 gene also, as determined by Southern blot analysis (Luther et al. 2000). The extracts from the spleen and LN of *plt* mice were examined for the presence of CCL19 and CCL21 protein by a Western blot analysis using goat anti-mouse CCL19 or CCL21. CCL19 and CCL21 were undetectable in these extracts confirming that the *plt* mice were double deficient for CCL19 and CCL21 in the lymphoid tissues (Luther et al. 2000).

A successful adaptive immune response is initiated when antigen specific näive T cells interact with antigen bearing mature DCs in the secondary lymphoid tissues, spleen and lymph node (Cyster 2000). As a consequence of DC activation, there is an upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules which thereby deliver an amplified signal to the T cells (Yanagihara et al. 1998). Activated DCs also trigger the release of specific cytokines and chemokines which polarize the subsequent T cell responses. The activated T cells then proliferate and migrate to the infected tissues to perform their effector functions (Gunn 2003). Thus, colocalization of näive T cells and DCs in the peripheral lymphoid organs is key to the initiation of an antigen specific adaptive immune response (Kaiser et al. 2005; Marsland et al. 2005).

CCL19 is a potent leukocyte chemoattractant promoting the migration of antigen presenting cells [APCs] and lymphocytes to the secondary lymphoid organs in inflammatory immune responses (Yoshida et al. 1998; Marsland et al. 2005). The functional receptor for CCL19 is CCR7 (Yoshida et al. 1998). Upon antigen uptake by immature DCs followed by their subsequent activation by recognition of pathogen associated molecular patterns [PAMPs], CCR7 expression is upregulated which thereby directs the activated DCs into the T cell areas of the draining lymph node (Dieu et al. 1998; Sozzani et al. 1998; Yanagihara et al. 1998). This has been further substantiated by experimental observations in CCR7 deficient mice. In these mice, skin activated DCs show impaired migratory abilities to the draining LNs (Forster et al. 1999). CCL19 has also been identified as a potent inducer of DC maturation triggering the

upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules and involved in the release of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-12 and TNF- α . The critical role of CCL19 and/or CCL21 as initiators of DC maturation is established by the observation that DCs in *plt* mice fail to mature completely after peripheral stimulation with TLR ligands and reach the LNs in a semi-mature state (Marsland et al. 2005). Thus CCL19 and CCL21 play pivotal roles in driving the maturation of PAMP-licensed DCs. These CCL19 and CCL21 activated DCs effectively differentiate thereby triggering the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines that determine the direction of subsequent T cell responses. Specifically, these cytokines are potent in inducing cytotoxic T cell and Th-1 responses (Marsland et al. 2005). This proinflammatory role of CCL19 is key to initiating effective, sustained cell mediated responses against viruses. In addition, CCL19 performs homeostatic functions regulating the transmigration of circulating lymphocytes across the HEVs into the lymph node (Baekkevold et al. 2001). In vitro, CCL19 is a potent inducer of both naïve lymphocytes and DCs as determined by transwell chemotaxis assays (Yoshida et al. 1997; Ngo et al. 1998; Kellermann et al. 1999).

1.14 CCL19 as a vaccine adjuvant

CCL19 is a leukocyte chemoattractant promoting the recruitment of DCs and lymphocytes to the secondary lymphoid tissues in inflammatory immune responses (Yoshida et al. 1998). CCR7, the functional receptor for CCL19 is upregulated on activated DCs and promotes their migration to the lymph node in response to CCL19 (Yanagihara et al. 1998; Marsland et al. 2005). CCL19 directs the migration of mature DCs to the distinct T cell zones in the lymphoid organs thereby establishing a functional microenvironment to prime naive T cells (Yoshida et al. 1998; Marsland et al. 2005). In this regard, it has also been shown that due to CCL19 secretion, activated DCs are able to induce a polarized and motile state in naïve T cells. In a recent study, a video microscopy imaging system has been used to capture some of the early interactions between mature DCs and naïve T cells. Human naïve T cells were incubated along with autologous monocyte derived DCs. The response of naïve T cells to immature and mature DCs was observed and compared using video microscopy imaging. It was found that about 60% of naïve T cells became polarized in the presence of mature, activated DCs. They exhibited distinct morphological changes in comparison to naïve T cells cultured in the presence of immature DCs. These T cells were torpedo shaped containing a leading edge and a trailing uropod, which are characteristic of cells undergoing migration. Neutralizing antibodies to CCL19 and CCR7 resulted in approximately 92% reduction in the polarization of T cell responses. These findings conclusively support the theory that CCL19 facilitates interactions between naïve T cells and cognate Ag bearing APCs (Kaiser et al. 2005).

Manipulating the immune regulatory capacities of APCs using chemokines as immune modulators has scope in vaccine design and testing of antiviral therapies. In this regard, CCR7 ligands have demonstrated potential in orchestrating an effective antiviral immune response against HSV in mice (Eo et al. 2001; Toka et al. 2003). DCs, by virtue of their ability to activate näive T cells,
qualify as key players for the establishment of specific antiviral immunity. Antigen specific interactions between DCs and T cells leads to the production of antigen specific CTLs. The virus specific CTLs mediate viral clearance by the activation of antiviral pathways (Menne and Tennant 1999). Therefore, vaccines aimed at targeting specific antigens to DCs and polarizing the subsequent T cell responses provide protection against the particular pathogen (Figdor et al. 2004).

Experimental evidence shows that immunizing transgenic mice with hepatitis B surface antigens [HBsAg] by cytokine activated DCs can break tolerance and trigger an HBV specific CTL response (Shimizu et al. 1998; Engler et al. 2001). Cytokine activated, bone marrow derived DCs and freshly isolated splenic DCs from transgenic and non-transgenic mice were compared in their ability to process and present the HBsAg. This was done by measuring the susceptibility of HBsAg pulsed DCs to cytolysis. Transgenic mice infused with *ex-vivo* activated DCs produced normal numbers of HBsAg specific CTLs. The *ex-vivo* activated DCs delivered efficient co-stimulatory signals to the anergic, transgenic CTLs which enabled them to mount a sustained, HBsAg specific CTL response (Shimizu et al. 1998).

In another experiment, adoptive transfer of DCs pulsed with human papilloma virus [HPV] peptide induced HPV specific CTL responses, and protected mice from HPV induced tumors (Ludewig 2003). This indicated the involvement of DCs in the activation of anti-HPV T cells *in vivo*.

Most DC based vaccine strategies require that the DCs be customized in *vitro*, which involves manipulation of their maturation state. Upon interaction

with antigens, the DCs migrate to the draining lymph nodes to meet the T cells. The activated DCs secrete chemokines to which appropriate receptor bearing cells respond (Ngo et al. 1998). This is important to prime naïve T cells and initiate an antigen specific immune response. In mice, the migratory path of DCs responding to an artificial gradient of CCL19 has been tracked from the epidermis to the lymph nodes. These migratory DCs have then been targeted *in situ* and shown to establish effective antitumor immunity, upon loading of the specific tumor associated antigens [TAAs] (Kumamoto et al. 2002).

1.15 The DHBV model

Ducks are natural hosts of an important virus duck hepatitis B virus [DHBV] that is very similar to the HBV infecting humans (Menne and Tennant 1999). The hepadnaviruses have a very limited range of hosts comprising humans, woodchucks and ducks. Hence, the study of DHBV is very relevant to human health. The DHBV belongs to a family of hepadnaviruses which replicate in the liver of the host (Schultz and Chisari 1999; Tang and McLachlan 2002). The immune response to hepadnavirus encoded antigens has variable outcomes ranging from viral clearance to chronic infection (Chisari and Ferrari 1995; Guidotti et al. 1996). In patients infected with HBV, elimination of the virus is associated with the development of a vigorous cell mediated immune response (Guidotti and Chisari 1996; Guidotti et al. 1996). This involves recognition of viral epitopes in the context of class I MHC molecules by the HBV specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes [CTLs] resulting in the destruction of infected hepatocytes (Guidotti and Chisari 1996; Guidotti et al. 1996; Menne and Tennant 1999). The activated CTLs kill the infected hepatocytes by inducing apoptosis and also release inflammatory cytokines IFN- γ and TNF- α . These cytokines control the viral infection at different levels. They recruit macrophages, NK cells and T cells to perform their effector functions. They upregulate antigen processing, transport and expression of MHC in the infected cells (Guidotti and Chisari 2001). In HBV transgenic mice, the role of these cytokines has been well established. Studies in these mice have revealed that antiviral mechanisms mediated by IFN- γ and TNF- α expel the virus from infected cells without damaging host infected organs [non-cytopathic] (Guidotti et al. 1999; Sette et al. 2001; Thimme et al. 2003). They activate antiviral pathways in hepatocytes, inhibiting replication and viral gene expression. The inability to mount an effective CTL response results in viral persistence due to incomplete viral clearance leading to the development of chronic infection.

Ducks make defective, truncated IgY antibodies (Magor et al. 1992; Magor et al. 1994) and mount a weak humoral response against viruses. The truncated antibodies lack the Fc fragment and are incapable of binding to macrophages or other APCs to perform effector functions. Hence ducks may rely mainly on the cellular arm of the immune system and the innate immune system for antiviral immunity. In the current scenario, given the narrow host range for hepadnaviruses, ducks are a valuable model to understand HBV disease pathogenesis and for the development of HBV specific antiviral strategies (Menne

28

and Tennant 1999; Mangisa et al. 2004). Identification of novel chemokines and cytokines in ducks would enable efficient use of the DHBV model.

1.16 Hypothesis and rationale

Our interest is in understanding the duck model of hepatitis B for evaluation of antiviral therapies. Exploiting the duck model of hepatitis B for design of antiviral therapies requires development of specific immunological reagents.

To identify immunologically relevant genes in the duck, we constructed a spleen cDNA library in an EST project. We isolated a unique EST 4B6 bearing homology to CC chemokine CCL19. Our hypothesis was that EST 4B6 could be the duck homologue of CCL19. In order to test this hypothesis we have characterized CCL19 and shown that it is chemotactic for duck PBMCs *in vitro* thereby suggesting its functional significance.

Chemokines are a family of proinflammatory peptides which have immense scope in vaccine design. They direct APCs and T cells to the lymph node during inflammatory immune responses. Manipulating the immune regulatory capacities of DCs using chemokines can help activate DCs and break tolerance, thereby skewing subsequent T cell responses and establishing an effective, sustained antigen specific antiviral immunity.

In this regard, using chemokines to manipulate dendritic cells *in vivo* would enable us to prime naïve T cells for a DHBV antigen specific immune response in ducks. We have identified and characterized the duck homologue of

CCL19 which is a dendritic cell chemokine that recruits DCs and naïve T cells to the lymph node. In mice, the critical role of CCL19 in DC maturation was established by the observation that DCs in *plt* mice fail to mature completely after peripheral stimulation with TLR ligands and reach the LNs in a semi-mature state (Marsland et al. 2005). Thus CCL19 plays a key role in driving the maturation of PAMP-licensed DCs. These CCL19 activated DCs effectively differentiate thereby triggering the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines that determine the direction of subsequent T cell responses. Specifically, these cytokines are potent in inducing cytotoxic T cell and Th-1 responses (Marsland et al. 2005). This proinflammatory role of CCL19 has implications in initiating effective, sustained cell mediated immune responses against viruses. Thus, CCL19 is an effective tool to modulate the immune regulatory capacities of DCs which thereby polarize subsequent T cell responses and establish an effective, antigen specific antiviral immunity.

We have demonstrated the function of recombinant CCL19 *in vitro* by chemotaxis assays thereby implying that it has potential as an immune modulator. These findings can be extended for design of therapeutic strategies against the DHBV thereby enabling efficient use of the DHBV model. One of the current limitations in maintaining protective long term immunity against HBV is the inability to eliminate cccDNA from infected hepatocytes. Targeting the DHBV using molecular adjuvants like CCL19 has potential in establishing DHBV antigen specific antiviral immunity.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Ducks and duck PBMCs

A white Pekin duck [*Anas platyrhynchos*] was euthanized with Euthanyl. The peripheral blood was collected by cardiac puncture in blood collection tubes [BD Vacutainer, Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ] containing sodium heparin. The blood was diluted with an equal amount of RPMI1640 media [GIBCO TM-Invitrogen Corporation] containing 5% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum [FBS]. The diluted blood samples [25 mls] were layered onto 15 mls of endotoxin tested Ficoll-Paque TM Plus [Amersham Biosciences, Uppsala, Sweden] and centrifuged at 274xg for 20 minutes at room temperature. The peripheral blood mononuclear cells [PBMCs] separated by density gradient centrifugation were collected and washed three times with RPMI1640 media. Viable cells were counted using Trypan Blue exclusion and a hemocytometer and diluted to obtain a final concentration of 10 ⁶ cells/ml.

2.2 Clone identification and sequence analysis

Three thousand clones were randomly picked and sequenced from a spleen cDNA library in an EST project in our laboratory to identify immunologically relevant genes in the duck. One clone bearing significant homology to mammalian CC chemokine CCL19 was identified. The entire insert of 1320 bp was sequenced in both directions on an ABI Prism 377 automated DNA sequencer [PE Applied Biosystems]. The primers used for sequencing are shown in Table 2. The chromatogram editing, nucleotide alignment and primer design was performed using the program GeneTool [version-2, BioTools, Edmonton, Alta]. Protein alignment and analysis of amino acid sequences was done using PepTool [BioTools].

			Location of the
Primer	Seq 5' to 3'	Tm	primer
			CCL19
CCL19F1	CGGTGGCAACAACGTCCTGGA	66.47	forward exon 1
			CCL19
CCL19F2	GCCGACTTGCTTCCACCTCCT	66.47	forward 3' UTR
			CCL19
CCL19R2	CTGAGAGCTGGCCCCGATATG	66.47	reverse exon 1
			CCL19
CCL19F3	CCCTCCACCATTCCCATCCTG	66,47	forward 3' UTR
			CCL19
CCL19R3	TGCCCTCCTTTTCAGTCCCCA	64.52	reverse 3' UTR

Table 2. Primers used for sequencing EST 4B6

2.3 CCL19 probe preparation

To create a probe for northern and Southern hybridization analysis, a 230 bp product was amplified from the CCL19 cDNA sequence using forward primer CCL19F1 and reverse primer CCL19R2 that annealed to the exon 1 region [predicted based on the human CCL19 genomic sequence]. PCR amplification was done in a GeneAmp PCR system 9700 [PE Applied Biosystems, Foster City, Calif.] for 30 cycles using *Taq* polymerase [Qiagen, Mississauga, Ontario]. The CCL19 probe was radiolabelled with [³²P] α -dCTP by random priming [Prime-It

Random Primer Labeling Kit, Stratagene, TX] for detection in northern and Southern hybridizations.

2.4 Northern hybridization

Total RNA samples were isolated from different tissues including heart, kidney, lung, duodenum, brain, spleen, liver and bursa using TriZol [InVitrogen, life technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA] according to the manufacturer's instructions. About 10 μ g of RNA samples from the various tissues were run on a 1.2% agarose, 0.6% formaldehyde gel and blotted onto a Nytran Supercharge nylon transfer membrane and UV cross-linked [UV Stratalinker 2400, Stratagene]. The blot was prehybridized at 42°C for 2 hours and hybridized overnight with [³²P] labelled CCL19 probe in formamide hybridization solution [50% formamide, 5x Denhardt's reagent, 4x SSPE and 1% SDS]. The blot was washed at high stringency in 0.1x SSPE, 0.1%SDS at 65°C and exposed to Kodak BioMax XAR film at -80°C for one week.

2.5 Southern hybridization

High molecular weight genomic DNA obtained from erythrocytes of a White Pekin duck was digested to completion with restriction enzymes BamHI, EcoRI, HindIII and PstI and separated on 0.8% agarose gels, blotted onto a Nytran Supercharge nylon transfer membrane and immobilized by UV crosslinking. The blot was prehybridized at 42^oC for 6 hours and hybridized overnight with [³²P] labelled CCL19 probe in formamide hybridization solution [50% formamide, 5x Denhardt's reagent, 5% dextran sulfate, 4x SSPE and 1% SDS]. The blot was washed at low stringency in 1x SSPE, 0.1%SDS at 52° C and exposed to Kodak BioMax XAR film at -80° C for a week.

2.6 Production and purification of recombinant CCL19

The sequence encoding amino acids 22-99 encompassing the entire mature protein was amplified by PCR using the forward primer CCL19F.ex 5'-CATATGGGTGGCAACAACGTCCTGGA-3' and reverse primer CCL19R.ex 5'-CTCGAGATTGCCTTTATTTGGGACCTTC-3', purified using QIAquick PCR purification Kit [QIAGEN, Maryland, USA]. The vector was digested with the restriction enzymes NdeI and XhoI. The purified PCR product was subcloned into the NdeI and XhoI sites of the pET29b vector [Novagen, Inc., Madison, WI] in frame with the COOH-terminal 6xHis tag and BL21(DE3) cells were transformed. Briefly, a 50 ml overnight culture in LB plus 30µg/ml kanamycin was inoculated into one litre LB containing 30µg/ml kanamycin at 37°C. After 1-2 hours of incubation, at an O.D. 600 of 0.6, 1 mM IPTG was added to the culture and incubated overnight. Bacteria were harvested by centrifugation at 3000xg for 20 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in 10mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 10mM EDTA, sonicated, washed and centrifuged three times at 3000xg for 20 minutes at 4°C to recover the inclusion bodies containing recombinant CCL19. The inclusion bodies were lysed by sonication in cell lysis buffer [8M Urea, 1% Triton-X 100, 50mM Tris-HCl, 10mM EDTA, lysozyme 0.1µg/ml and 0.1mM PMSF]. The lysate was cleared by centrifugation, run on a NiNTA agarose column [QIAGEN,

Mississauga, Ontario] and eluted in 8M urea buffer containing 300mM imidazole to obtain pure, recombinant CCL19. The purity of recombinant CCL19 was assessed on a 15% reducing SDS polyacrylamide gel stained with Coomassie Blue. Recombinant CCL19 was detected as a band at the expected size of 11-12 kDa. The protein fragments were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes [Bio-Rad Laboratories, CA, USA], blocked with 0.5% BSA for 30 minutes, washed in TTBS and detected by chemiluminescence using an antibody specific for the 6x His tag [ECLTM Western Blotting Kit, Amersham Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, UK]. The urea was removed by dialysis in a stepwise manner from a concentration of 8M to 1M. The concentration of purified recombinant CCL19 in 1M urea buffer was estimated with a Micro BCA TM protein assay kit [Pierce, IL, USA].

2.7 Chemotaxis assays

Chemotaxis assays were performed using 24 well homemade chemotaxis chambers. The pure, recombinant CCL19 in 1M urea was diluted with RPMI-1640 media containing 5% heat inactivated FBS to obtain desired concentrations. The diluted chemokine solution was used to fill the bottom chamber. A polycarbonate membrane filter with a pore size 5µm in diameter, [Neuroprobe Inc, Gaithersburg, MD, USA] was placed over the bottom chamber using a pair of sterile foreceps. The top chamber was then screwed in place on top of the membrane filter. Cell suspension containing approximately 1.5x10⁵ cells was placed in the top chamber. The chemotaxis chambers were incubated for 4 hours

in 5% CO₂ at 37^oC and cells were allowed to migrate to the lower chamber in the presence or absence of the chemokine. The cells in the top chamber that did not migrate in response to the chemokine were removed. The top chamber was rinsed two times in sterile PBS [pH 7.2] gently, without damaging the membrane filter. The top chamber was then unscrewed. The membrane filter was carefully removed using foreceps and placed upside down on a glass slide. The filter carrying cells that migrated through the pores to the underside of the membrane filter were fixed in Hema-3 fixative [Fisher Scientific, Kalamazoo, MI, USA], air dried briefly and stained using Hema-3 stain [Fisher Scientific, Kalamazoo, MI, USA]. Cells in 5 different fields were then counted at 400X magnification using a compound microscope. Cells that migrated in response to the media alone [without recombinant CCL19] served as the negative control.

To demonstrate the specific chemotactic ability of recombinant CCL19, chemotaxis assays were set up simultaneously with equal concentrations of purified, recombinant CCL19 and purified, recombinant β_2 microglobulin expressed in *E. coli*. The subcloning, protein expression and protein purification of β_2 microglobulin was done by Debra Moon. Cells that migrated in response to recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin were enumerated similarly as mentioned before. To eliminate the possibility of contamination with bacterial LPS, 10 µg/ml of recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin were incubated with 10 µg/ml of Polymyxin B sulfate [Sigma] at 4^oC for 1 hour. Polymyxin B sulfate binds to bacterial LPS *in* solution. Chemotaxis assays were performed with recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2

36

microglobulin treated with or without Polymyxin B sulfate to demonstrate that migration is not due to contaminating LPS from *E. coli*.

2.8 Quantification of LPS using limulus amoebocyte lysate test

The amount of contaminating LPS in recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin was quantified using the limulus amoebocyte lysate endosafe kit according to the manufacturer's instructions [Charles River]. Briefly, 200 µl of recombinant CCL19 or recombinant β_2 microglobulin in 1M urea was incubated in the single test vial containing buffered lysate at 37^oC for an hour. *Salmonella typhimurium* at a concentration of 10µg was used as a positive control for detection of LPS. Sterile pyrogen free water was used as the negative control. A positive result was indicated in *Salmonella typhimurium* by the formation of a firm gel capable of maintaining its integrity when inverted at 180^o. A negative test was characterized by the absence of gel or by the formation of a viscous mass. Both recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin gave a negative result indicating that the amount of contaminating LPS was below the detection limit of the endosafe reagent [0.25EU/ml].

3. RESULTS

3.1 Identification of a duck homologue of CCL19

To enable identification of immunologicaly relevant genes in the duck *[Anas platyrhynchos]*, 3000 randomly selected clones from a duck spleen cDNA library were sequenced. We identified a unique clone 4B6 [GenBank accession number - AY682098] bearing significant homology to the mouse and human CC chemokine CCL19 [Fig. 2]. The full length cDNA was 1320 base pairs in length and contained an open reading frame starting with the methionine codon that encoded a polypeptide of 99 amino acids with a predicted molecular weight of 12 kDa. The 3' noncoding region was longer than that of the mammalian CCL19 and featured a typical AATAAA polyadenylation signal sequence [Fig. 2].

The deduced polypeptide sequence consisted of a highly hydrophobic amino terminal region characteristic of a signal peptide with a predicted cleavage site between amino acid residues Gly-22 and Gly-23, based on the mouse and human CCL19 polypeptide sequences [Fig. 2]. The predicted mature protein had an estimated isoelectric point of 11.04 [www.expasy.org/tools/pi_tool.html]. The highly basic polypeptide of 99 amino acids contained 16 positively charged amino acid residues and 7 negatively charged amino acid residues throughout the entire sequence. There were no potential N glycosylation sites.

1	cag	age	tcac	ct	ctc	ctg	cc	caga	agec	ecg	ctg	cct	ccag	ccc	atc	ctct
51	gcc	agad	ctca	gco	jaca	aca							ctct	-		
101					-		<u>M</u>	<u>Q</u>	Q	L			L C			
101	CCt	ggt	gctg	gg	atg	τατ	cc	tgea	acgt	:gca	cgg	tgg	caac	aac	gtc	ctgg
	т.	v	L	G	С	I	τ	н	v	н	G	G	N	N	v	L
	<u>~</u>				<u> </u>	~ ~		<u> </u>	v			9	1.4	14	v	ш
151	ac	tgei	tqcc	t qa	ada	acq	aqc	qaq	aat	ccca	tco	ccad	caaco	r qa	tca	tgcag
	D	ć					ร์	Ē	N		ΓP			I	v	Q
201	aga	tat	caga	ta	cag	ctg	gt	gcag	ggad	ggc	tgc	gaa	atcc	cto	jcca	acgt
	R	Y	Q		~		V	Q	D	G	С	Е	I	P	A	N
251	gtt				gag				jcct	ctg	cgc	ccc	gctc	gaa	igec	ccgt
	v	F		т	V		G	K	R	L	C	Α		LE		
301			ttcg					-						-	-	iggtc
0.5.1	W	A		R	L	R	Е	K	L	D	S	G		A F		
351	CCa P	aat N		i ge. G	aat N	tag *	gc	cct	jaaq	jaag	ccc	acg	gctg	geo	ecca	igcac
401	-			-			+~	2001	- ~+ ~	·~~+	~+~	~~~~	a+ a a	+~~		
451																cgac
501																actc
551																gctg
601																cacc
651	ccy	++a	cago	ay a												gttt
701			tccc													ggtt
751																iggaa
801																iggga
851			tcac													cctc
901			ttcc													tggt
951			caga													ccac
1001	-		aggg										aggg		_	ccct
1051	-	-	ggac												-	ggtc
1101	-	-	tgcc						-			-	-		-	ctcq
1151		-	-													acgg
1201																tttt
1251			ctgg													aaaa
1301			aaaa								-					

Fig. 2. Full length nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequence of duck CC chemokine CCL19. The predicted signal sequence and polyadenylation signal sequence is underlined. The arrow indicates the cleavage site of the signal sequence. Cysteine residues are shown in bold. The sequence data is available in GenBank under the accession number AY682098.

The full length polypeptide sequence encoded by 4B6 showed significant homology to other vertebrate CC chemokines [Fig. 3]. The four cysteine residues in the mature protein were highly conserved as in the CC chemokine subfamily in all vertebrate species. The protein encoded by our duck clone 4B6 shared 78% identity to the chicken CCL19, 46% identity to the mouse CCL19 and 44% identity to the human CCL19 at the amino acid level [GenBank accession numbers - AF059208, AJ223410].

To investigate the evolutionary relationship between the closely related vertebrate CC chemokines CCL19 and CCL21, a phylogenetic tree was drawn from a Clustal W generated amino acid alignment of the available vertebrate CCL19 and CCL21 sequences [Fig. 4]. The duck CCL19 appears to be more closely related to chicken and mammalian CCL19 homologues than to chicken and mammalian CCL21 homologues.

To determine the tissue distribution pattern of duck CCL19 a northern blotting analysis was done. Eight different tissues from a duck including heart, kidney, lung, duodenum, brain, spleen, liver and bursa were hybridized with a probe for CCL19 [Fig. 5]. The duck CCL19 was found to be significantly expressed only in spleen and weakly expressed in the lung. The expression of CCL19 in the spleen is consistent with that of its mammalian counterparts [Fig. 5]. The blot was stripped and re-hybridized with GAPDH as a control for amounts of RNA loaded.

Duck	MQQLHLLCLGLLVLGCILHVHGGNNVLDCCLRTSENPIPRRIVQRYQIQL	
Chicken	RVSR.VYAKWD.RM	78
Rat	MASRVTPAFSWTFSAPALG.A.DAESVTQRGNKAFRYL.	46
Mouse	MAPRVTPAFSWTFPAPTLG.A.DAESVTQRGNKAFRYL.	46
Dog	MAS.AAVA.SL.WTSPALG.A.DAESVTQRGNRAFHYL.	43
Human	MALA.SWTSPAPTLS.T.DAESVTQKGYRNFHYL.	44
Rhesus monkey	MALA.SWTSPAPTLS.T.DAESVTQKGYRNFRYL.	42
Duck Chicken Rat Mouse Dog Human Rhesus monkey	VQDGCEIPANVFITVRGKRLCAPLEAPWAVRLREKLDSGSARKVPNKGN	

Sequence:1- Duck (Anas platyrhynchos) CCL19 (AY682098) Sequence:2- Red jungle fowl (Gallus gallus) CCL19 (XM_424980). Sequence:3- Rat (Rattus norvegicus) CCL19 (XM_342824). Sequence:4- Mouse (Mus musculus) CCL19 (AF059208). Sequence:5- Dog (Canis familaris) CCL19 (AB163919). Sequence:6- Human (Homo sapiens) CCL19 (AJ223410). Sequence:7- Rhesus monkey (Macaca maculata) CCL19 (AF449273).

Fig. 3. Amino acid alignment of duck CCL19 with other related CC chemokine sequences. The full length amino acid sequence of duck CCL19 is aligned with related CC chemokine sequences using the T-Coffee alignment program. The gene accession numbers are mentioned below the alignment. The identical amino acid residues are indicated by a dot. The percent identity to duck CCL19 is indicated on the right.

%



Fig. 4. Phylogenetic analysis showing the relationship between different vertebrate CCL19 and CCL21. The tree was constructed using the Clustal W program (www.ddbj.nig.ac.jp). The sequences encoding the mature protein of duck, chicken, mouse, human, rat, dog and rhesus monkey CCL19 (GenBank), duck CCL21 (unpublished), chicken CCL21 (U.D. Chick EST database), mouse, human, rat, dog, pig and rhesus monkey CCL21 were aligned using Neighbour-

joining method. The resultant trees were bootstrapped 1000 times and bootstrap values greater than 700 considered significant, are shown in the figure. The accession numbers for all the sequences are indicated below.

Duck (Anas platyrhynchos) CCL19 (AY682098).

Red jungle fowl (Gallus gallus) CCL19 (XM_424980).

Rat (Rattus norvegicus) CCL19 (XM_342824).

Mouse (Mus musculus) CCL19 (AF059208).

Dog (Canis familaris) CCL19 (AB163919).

Human (Homo sapiens) CCL19 (AJ223410).

Rhesus monkey (Macaca maculata) CCL19 (AF449273).

Duck (Anas platyrhynchos) CCL21 (unpublished).

Red jungle fowl (Gallus gallus) CCL21 (U. D. Chick EST database).

Rat (Rattus norvegicus) CCL21(AAH86571).

Mouse (Mus musculus) CCL21 (AF307987).

Dog (Canis familaris) CCL21(AB164433).

Human (Homo sapiens) CCL21 (AB002409).

Rhesus monkey (Macaca maculata) CCL21 (AF449275).

Pig CCL21 (AJ585194).



Fig. 5. Northern blot analysis showing CCL19 expression in various duck tissues. The northern blot made from total RNA samples isolated from eight different tissues in a duck was probed with ³²P labelled CCL19. Lane 1:Heart; 2:Kidney; 3:Lung; 4:Duodenum; 5:Brain; 6:Spleen; 7:Liver; 8:Bursa. *I:* Hybridization with CCL19 probe. *II:* Hybridization with GAPDH probe as a control for amounts of RNA loaded. *III:* RNA gel showing the different lanes as a control for quality of RNA loaded.

To establish gene copy number of CCL19 in the genome, Southern blot analysis was performed. Duck genomic DNA was digested with four different restriction enzymes including BamHI, EcoRI, HindIII, PstI and hybridized with a probe for CCL19. In each digest, there were two hybridizing restriction fragments for each of the different enzymes. There were no cut sites in the probe for any of the enzymes tested. This suggested that CCL19 probably existed in two copies in the duck genome [Fig. 6].

3.2 Production and purification of recombinant CCL19

The cDNA encoding the mature protein was directionally cloned into the NdeI and XhoI sites of the pET29b vector in frame with a 6X His-tag at the carboxyl terminus. The recombinant protein expressed in *E.coli* was detected by SDS-PAGE stained with Coomassie brilliant blue at the expected size of 12 kDa [Fig. 7]. Recombinant CCL19 purified on a nickel agarose [NiNTA] column under denaturing conditions with 8M urea was detected by SDS-PAGE stained with Coomassie brilliant blue [Fig. 8] and confirmed by western blotting analysis using an antibody specific for the 6X His-tag [Fig. 9]. A significant fraction of recombinant CCL19 existed as monomers while a small percentage of the protein formed homodimers. The urea was removed by dialysis in a stepwise manner. Concentration of recombinant CCL19 in 1M urea buffer determined by a micro BCA assay was approximately 1 mg/ml.



Fig. 6. Southern blot analysis indicating genomic organization of duck CCL19. Southern blot made from duck genomic DNA digested with four different restriction enzymes was hybridized with ³²P labelled CCL19 probe. The

1kb⁺DNA size marker is indicated on the left.



Fig. 7. SDS-PAGE analysis of recombinant CCL19. The *E. coli* culture BL21 [DE3] was induced for expression of 6X His-tagged recombinant CCL19. The different fractions collected at various time points were detected by SDS-PAGE stained with Coomassie brilliant blue. Lane 1: Molecular weight marker; 2: Empty; 3: Uninduced *E. coli* culture; 4: β -galactosidase expression 180 minutes after induction [control]; 5: Uninduced *E. coli* culture; 6: CCL19 expression 120 minutes after induction; 7: CCL19 expression 180 minutes after induction. The arrow at the top right indicates expected size of the control and the arrow at the bottom right shows the expression of CCL19.



Fig. 8. SDS-PAGE analysis of affinity purified recombinant CCL19. The lysed inclusion bodies containing 6X His-tagged recombinant CCL19 was purified on a nickel agarose column. The various fractions collected during purification were detected by SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions and stained with Coomassie brilliant blue. Lane 1: Uninduced *E. coli* culture; 2: CCL19 expression 180 minutes after induction; 3: Inclusion bodies; 4: Flow through; 5: Wash; 6-8: Elution fractions of purified recombinant CCL19. The molecular weight marker is indicated on the left. The arrow at the bottom right indicates purified CCL19 obtained in elution fraction 3.



Fig. 9. Western blot analysis of affinity purified recombinant CCL19. The lysed inclusion bodies containing 6X His-tagged recombinant CCL19 was purified on a nickel agarose column. The various fractions collected during purification were detected on a western blot with an antibody specific for the 6X His tag. Lane 1: Positive control-goldfish macrophage receptor (M-CSF); 2: Inclusion bodies; 3: Flow through; 4: Wash 1; 5: Wash 2; 6: The arrow at the bottom right indicates purified recombinant CCL19. The molecular weight markers are indicated on the left.

3.3 Chemotactic activity of recombinant CCL19 on freshly isolated duck peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs)

To test the capability of recombinant CCL19 to attract duck PBMCs *in vitro*, a chemotaxis assay was set up with or without different concentrations of CCL19 as indicated [Fig. 10]. Cells migrating across the pores of the transwell membrane filter to the underside were counted and expressed as number of migrating cells per 5 different high power fields. Number of cells migrating in response to the media alone [without CCL19] served as the negative control. A significant dose response was observed with maximum number of PBMCs migrating towards the underside of the transwell membrane filter at a concentration of $10\mu g/ml$ [Fig. 10].

To demonstrate that migration towards recombinant CCL19 across the pores of the transwell membrane filter was directional and not random movement, migration assays were set up with recombinant CCL19 as a gradient [specific concentrations of CCL19 in the bottom chamber alone] or without a gradient [equal concentrations of CCL19 in the top and bottom chambers] [Fig. 11]. At all concentrations tested, migration of PBMCs towards CCL19 in a gradient was significantly higher than migration without a gradient indicating that the response to recombinant CCL19 was chemotactic [Fig. 11].





Chemotaxis assays showing the number of PBMCs counted in 5 high power fields to the underside of the transwell membrane filter in response to the specified concentrations of recombinant CCL19. Data indicated as mean \pm standard error in 5 experiments using different individuals for each experiment.



Fig. 11. Migration of duck PBMCs in the presence or absence of a gradient of recombinant CCL19. Chemotaxis assays showing the number of PBMCs counted in 5 high power fields that migrated to the underside of the transwell membrane filter in response to the specified concentrations of recombinant CCL19. Recombinant CCL19 was set up as a gradient (*gradient*-specified concentration of CCL19 in the lower chamber alone) or without a gradient (*no gradient*-equal concentrations of CCL19 in the upper and lower chambers). Data indicated as mean \pm standard error in 5 experiments using different individuals for each experiment.

To assess the specific chemotactic ability of recombinant CCL19 to attract duck PBMCs, compared to any other recombinant protein expressed in *E. coli*, a chemotaxis assay was set up simultaneously with equal concentrations of recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin [Fig. 12]. The number of cells migrating in response to the two different proteins was determined. The number of PBMCs migrating in response to the media alone and the 1M urea buffer served as the negative control. The PBMCs demonstrated increased responsiveness to recombinant CCL19 than recombinant β_2 microglobulin at all concentrations tested indicating that the migration was CCL19 specific [Fig. 12].

To establish that migration was specific in response to recombinant CCL19 and not LPS from *E.coli*, chemotaxis assays were performed with recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin with or without Polymyxin B sulfate [Sigma] at a concentration of 10µg/ml [Fig. 13]. Polymyxin B sulfate binds to bacterial LPS in solution. A significant response of duck PBMCs to endotoxin treated recombinant CCL19 in comparison to untreated recombinant CCL19 confirmed that migration is not due to contaminating LPS from *E. coli* [Fig. 13].



Fig. 12. Migration of duck PBMCs towards recombinant CCL19 or recombinant β_2 microglobulin. Chemotaxis assays showing the number of PBMCs counted in 5 high power fields on the underside of the transwell membrane filter that migrated in response to the specified concentrations of recombinant CCL19 or recombinant β_2 microglobulin. Data indicated as mean \pm standard error in 5 experiments using different individuals for each experiment.



Fig. 13. Migration of duck PBMCs toward specified concentrations of recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin incubated with or without polymyxin B sulfate. Chemotaxis assays showing the number of PBMCs counted in 5 high power fields to the underside of the transwell membrane filter that migrated in response to the specified concentrations of recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin. The sample(s) in the third and last panel were treated with polymixin B sulfate. Data indicated as mean \pm standard error of 5 experiments using different individuals in each experiment.

4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Characterization of a duck homologue of CCL19

In the present study, we have identified the duck homologue of CC chemokine CCL19 and demonstrated that it is chemotactic for peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) in vitro. Random selection of 3000 clones from a duck (Anas platyrhynchos) spleen cDNA library and subsequent sequencing yielded a novel clone 4B6 identical to mammalian CCL19 homologues. Our findings based on sequence characteristics, high degree of sequence homology with other vertebrate CCL19 homologues and phylogenetic data strongly suggest that clone 4B6 is the probable duck homologue of CCL19. The full length cDNA encoded a highly basic polypeptide typical of all vertebrate CC chemokines (Imai et al. 1996; Nagira et al. 1997). Duck CCL19 shared homology with other members of the vertebrate CCL19 subfamily with approximately 40-78% amino acid identity across species. The four cysteine residues in the mature protein stabilized by the disulphide bonds are highly conserved which is characteristic of all vertebrate CC chemokines (Yoshida et al. 1997; Ngo et al. 1998; Basu et al. 2002). The high degree of conservation of the cysteine residues throughout evolution imply an important biological role for this motif in the structure. Also, the DCCL motif in the N terminus is highly conserved among the vertebrate CCL19 homologues suggesting its functional significance.

We eliminated the possibility that duck 4B6 encoded the closely related homologue of CCL19, another CC chemokine, CCL21. CCL19 lacks the additional highly basic C terminal domain found in CCL21. Chicken CCL21 is available as an EST in the U.D. (University of Delaware) Chick EST database (unpublished). We also identified duck CCL21 in the EST project from the spleen cDNA constructed in our lab (Jianguo Xia, unpublished data). An important characteristic feature of CCL21 is the presence of a longer carboxy-terminal domain with a high content of basic amino acids (Nagira et al. 1997). This C terminal region typical of CCL21 is highly conserved in both mice and humans (Hedrick and Zlotnik 1997; Hromas et al. 1997; Tanabe et al. 1997). Apart from the four cysteine residues found in the mature protein of all CC chemokines, the carboxyl terminus of CCL21 contains two additional cysteines (Hedrick and Zlotnik 1997; Hromas et al. 1997; Tanabe et al. 1997). The disulphide bridge formed between these two cysteines results in the formation of a C terminal structure unique to CCL21 (Hedrick and Zlotnik 1997; Hromas et al. 1997; Tanabe et al. 1997). Duck CCL21 contains this unique C terminal extension of basic amino acids while duck CCL19 lacks it.

The sequences in the N terminal domain of duck CCL19 in comparison to mammalian, duck and chicken CCL21 counterparts are fairly conserved. The N terminal residues preceding the first cysteine in the mature mammalian CCL19 like asparigine in the third position, aspartate in the fourth and seventh positions are important for ligand binding (Ott et al. 2004 a). Although the interactions responsible for ligand binding and receptor activation are independent of each other, the N terminus is considered crucial for the biological activity of CCL19 (Ott et al. 2004). The N terminal region is conserved throughout phylogeny indicating the importance of this functional domain in CCL19.

The evolutionary relationship between CCL19 and CCL21 was established based on phylogenetic analysis. Regions encompassing the mature protein of available vertebrate CCL19 and CCL21 homologues were analyzed. Our data suggests that duck CCL19 is more closely related to mammalian CCL19 homologues than mammalian CCL21 homologues. Duck CCL19 is more closely related to chicken CCL19 than to chicken and duck CCL21. Chicken CCL19 and chicken CCL21 are approximately 35% identical to each other at the amino acid level. Also, the duck and chicken CCL19 are characterized by the presence of two cysteine residues in the leader peptide which is not observed in the mammalian CCL19 and CCL21 homologues. The chromosomal locations of the genes encoding CCL19 and CCL21 have been mapped in mice, humans and chickens (Nagira et al. 1997; Yoshida et al. 1997; Maho et al. 1999; Nakano and Gunn 2001; Wang et al. 2005). Both genes are adjacent to each other on mouse chromosome 4 in a region of conserved synteny to human chromosome 9p13 and chicken chromosome Z (Nagira et al. 1997; Yoshida et al. 1997; Maho et al. 1999; Nakano and Gunn 2001; Wang et al. 2005). These observations are consistent with the possibility that CCL19 and CCL21 arose from a common ancestral gene as a result of gene duplication during evolution.

The tissue distribution pattern of duck CCL19 was determined by northern blot analysis. Duck CCL19 has a very restricted expression profile in tissues. A strong hybridization signal was detected only in spleen and a signal with a relatively weaker intensity was detected in the lung. In mice and humans, CCL19 is predominantly expressed in hematopoetic tissues (Yoshida et al. 1997; Ngo et al. 1998). Among the various tissues tested, the tissue distribution pattern of duck CCL19 was consistent with that of mammalian CCL19 homologues.

The copy number of genes encoding CCL19 in the duck genome was determined by Southern blotting analysis. In each digest, there were two hybridizing restriction fragments of different sizes for each of the enzymes. None of the enzymes used to digest the genomic DNA had cut sites in the probe. Studies in mice, humans and chickens have shown that CCL19 and CCL21 genes colocalize and are closely linked to each other (Nagira et al. 1997; Maho et al. 1999; Nakano and Gunn 2001; Wang et al. 2005). The genes have probably diverged during evolution from a common ancestral gene as a result of gene duplication. The nucleotide identity of the region used as a probe from duck CCL19 was compared to the duck CCL21 sequence. There was 36% nucleotide identity to the duck CCL21. It is not possible that the CCL19 probe is hybridizing to CCL21. Based on our data, it is most likely that there are two copies of CCL19 in the genome of ducks.

The biological function of recombinant CCL19 *in vitro* was assessed by chemotaxis assays using a transwell system. Recombinant CCL19 attracted freshly isolated duck peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) in a dose dependent manner with maximum recruitment at a concentration of $10\mu g/ml$. A significant response of duck PBMCs towards recombinant CCL19 in the presence

of a gradient confirmed that the migration was chemotactic and not random chemokinetic movement. There was significant migration of duck PBMCs to recombinant duck β_2 microglobulin subcloned into the same vector as recombinant CCL19 and expressed in *E. coli*. However, the response was abrogated by treatment of the β_2 microglobulin sample with Polymixin B sulfate, that binds to bacterial LPS in solution. Treatment of CCL19 sample with Polymixin B sulfate did not significantly alter chemotaxis. This implied that the chemotactic movement of duck PBMCs was not due to contaminating bacterial components from *E. coli*.

The variation in the number of responding cells to same concentrations of the chemokine in individual chemotaxis assays suggests that recombinant CCL19 was not completely refolded resulting in a partially bioactive form. However, every purified CCL19 preparation used in the chemotaxis assays was quantified to maintain consistency in concentration. The functional receptor for the CCL19 ligand is CCR7 (Yoshida et al. 1997). In humans, recombinant Flag-tagged CCL19 recruits CCR7 transfected cells *in vitro* at an optimal concentration of 300ng/ml (Yoshida et al. 1997). Cells from 5 different high power fields [400X magnification] were counted. The number of migrating cells in response to human CCL19 increased approximately six fold as the concentration was increased from 10 ng/ml to 300 ng/ml (Yoshida et al. 1997). In mice, a significant purified population of spleen T lymphocytes and a relatively lesser population of B lymphocytes migrated effectively towards recombinant CCL19 (Ngo et al. 1998). The percentage of input cells migrating towards mouse CCL19 was taken into account. About 20% of input CD4 positive T cells migrated effectively towards 10ng/ml of recombinant CCL19, while approximately 40% of CD8 positive T cells exhibited significant migration at a concentration of 100ng/ml (Ngo et al. 1998). Recombinant duck CCL19 is required at a concentration of 1 μ g/ml to stimulate efficient chemotaxis. When the concentration of duck CCL19 was increased 10 times from 500ng/ml to 5 μ g/ml, there was approximately a 2.5 fold increase in the number of duck PBMCs migrating in response to the chemokine. There are several possible reasons for this. Recombinant duck CCL19 expressed in *E. coli* was purified from inclusion bodies under denaturing conditions in 8M urea. The urea was removed by stepwise dialysis to a final concentration of 1M urea. Dialyzing recombinant CCL19 below 1M urea resulted in precipitation. Addition of a nonionic detergent n-octyl- β -D-glucopyranoside to the dialysis buffer to prevent aggregation below 1M urea was not successful.

The correct formation of disulphide bridges between the cysteines is critical for the biological activity of chemokines (Clark-Lewis et al. 1994; Clark-Lewis et al. 1995; Rajarathnam et al. 2001). The role of cysteines in the biological activity of chemokines has been well illustrated in IL-8 (Clark-Lewis et al. 1994). To assess the importance of individual disulphide bridges, the cysteine residues in IL-8 were substituted with α -aminobutyric acid [Aba]. These substituted forms lacked considerable activity and displayed marginal capability to interact with the cognate receptor as determined by ligand binding assays (Moser et al. 1991). Hence, it is speculated that the correct formation of disulphide bridges is necessary to provide the right framework and conformation for the receptor

61
binding motifs in the N-terminus and consequently important for biological activity of chemokines (Baysal and Atilgan 2001; Ott et al. 2004; Ott et al. 2004). CCL19 has four cysteine residues in the mature protein. The conformational restrictions imposed by the disulphides made it difficult to completely refold recombinant CCL19. The inability to refold recombinant CCL19 completely to its native conformation probably resulted in the requirement of higher optimal concentrations to induce chemotaxis. However, a consistently significant migration of PBMCs to recombinant duck CCL19 in comparison to the controls suggests that it is indeed biologically active.

We eliminated the possibility that the migration of duck PBMCs to our recombinant CCL19 was due to bacterial LPS contamination. Chemotaxis assays were performed with recombinant CCL19 and recombinant β_2 microglobulin with or without using Polymyxin B sulphate (Sigma) at a concentration of 10 micrograms/ml. Polymyxin B sulphate binds to bacterial LPS in solution. A significant response of duck PBMCs to endotoxin treated versus untreated recombinant CCL19 preparations confirmed that migration is not due to contaminating LPS from *E. coli*.

4.1.1 Expression of recombinant CCL19 in a eukaryotic system

The prokaryotic system enables expression of recombinant proteins in substantial amounts. However, a significant fraction of the protein in *E.coli* is recovered from inclusion bodies which are aggregates of malfolded polypeptides present in the insoluble fraction of the cell (Lu et al. 2001). The recombinant

protein is recovered under denaturing conditions and has to be refolded to its native conformation for biological activity. CCL19 has four cysteine residues in the mature protein. The correct formation of disulphide bridges between the cysteines is crucial for the biological activity of CCL19. The inability to refold recombinant CCL19 completely to its native conformation probably resulted in the requirement of higher optimal concentrations to induce chemotaxis.

Expressing recombinant CCL19 in a eukaryotic system is a potential alternative. Attempts to express recombinant human CCL19 in the bacculovirus expression system was unsuccessful (Yoshida et al. 1997). In mice, recombinant CCL19 has been expressed successfully using this approach. Briefly, the region encompassing the mature protein was expressed as an N terminal flag tagged CCL19 in HEK 293 cells. The cells were then transfected with pCEP-N-FLAG-CCL19 using lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cells which were resistant to puromycin were then expanded. Serum free supernatants were collected and recombinant N terminal flag tagged recombinant CCL19 was purified by affinity column chromatography using ANTI-FLAG M2-Agarose-sepharose (SIGMA) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Marsland et al. 2005).

In a most recent study in ducks, monoclonal antibodies have been developed to detect monocytes, T and B lymphocytes (Kothlow et al. 2005). These antibodies could be used to identify the phenotype of specific leukocyte subsets migrating in response to recombinant CCL19.

63

4.1.2 Characterization of duck CCR7, the receptor for duck CCL19

Generation of effective adaptive immune responses requires efficient orchestration of immune cells through the secondary lymphoid organs. Leukocyte recruitment to peripheral sites and to the lymph node is governed by the differential expression of chemokine receptors (Moser et al. 2004). In this regard, CCR7 plays an important role in guiding naïve lymphocytes and DCs to the secondary lymphoid tissues (Dieu et al. 1998; Sallusto et al. 1998; Sozzani et al. 1998; Yanagihara et al. 1998). CCR7 is the characteristic G protein coupled receptor for CCL19 and is expressed on the surface of naive T and B lymphocytes (Yoshida et al. 1997; Yanagihara et al. 1998; Yoshida et al. 1998). The mobilization of DCs from the periphery to the lymph nodes [LN] is regulated by CCR7. CCR7 expression is induced along with the maturation of human DCs while the expression of other chemokine receptors is down regulated (Dieu et al. 1998; Sallusto et al. 1998; Sozzani et al. 1998; Yanagihara et al. 1998). In mice, CCR7 is also selectively expressed by bone marrow derived DCs and epidermal LCs. In a recent study in mice, it was demonstrated that CCR7 is an essential mediator regulating the migration of skin (epidermal and dermal) DCs into the lymphatic vessels under inflammatory as well as steady state conditions (Ohl et al. 2004). Experimental evidence suggests that CCR7 deficient mice revealed a marked defect in migration of DCs to the LN (Forster et al. 1999; Ohl et al. 2004). In a separate study using mice as a model of asthma, the role of CCR7 in the exit of T cells from the periphery into the afferent lymphatics was established. In this study, *in vivo* labeling of airway cells by carboxyfluoroscein succinimidyl ester [CFSE] demonstrated that peripheral T cells re-entered into the draining LN by migrating from the airways into the afferent lymphatic vessels. A significant population of these migrating T cells were CCR7 positive. The migration of effector T cells from the periphery was shown by the generation of transgenic mice that constitutively expressed CCR7 in T cells. The CCR7 positive T cells continued migrating into the afferent lymph and accumulated in the draining LN. To further substantiate this observation, competitive migration experiments were set up wherein both CCR7 positive and CCR7 negative T cells migrated from the lung airways. It was observed that only CCR7 positive T cells migrated from the lung and entered into the afferent lymphatic vessels (Bromley et al. 2005). Thus CCR7 expression is essential for DCs and T cells to migrate to the lymph node, it acts as one of the "gatekeepers" in modulating immune responses (Bromley et al. 2005; Lira 2005).

We have cloned and sequenced the duck homologue of CCR7 in our laboratory. The full length sequence of CCR7 cDNA was obtained by degenerate oligonucleotide RT-PCR and specific 5' and 3' RACE PCR. Sequence analysis reveals that there is high degree of sequence homology between duck CCR7 and other known CCR7 sequences in chicken, human, rhesus monkey, chimpanzee, pig, mouse and rat. The deduced amino acid sequence for duck CCR7 was compared to the schematic structure of human CCR7. Seven hydrophobic TMs, four ECs and four ICs including the extracellular amino-terminus and intracellular carboxy-terminus were identified in the duck CCR7. An analysis of the amino

65

acid alignment of various CCR7 sequences indicated conservation throughout most of the protein. In particular, comparison between duck CCR7 and human CCR7 at the amino acid level revealed identity in the amino acid residues of the extracellular domain [EC4] known to be important for CCR7 function. Northern blotting analysis indicated significant expression of duck CCR7 in the spleen and lung, consistent with the expression pattern of our duck CCL19 [Ross and Brusnyk, unpublished data].

To extend our findings about duck CCL19, we could further study CCR7-CCL19 receptor-ligand interactions. In humans, there has been a similar attempt to demonstrate affinity between the ligand CCL19 and its cognate receptor CCR7 (Ott et al. 2004 b). Briefly, chemotaxis assays were set up in which Jurkat T leukaemia cell line stably transfected with CCR7 by electroporation migrated towards different concentrations of CCL19. The cells were washed twice with PBS and resuspended in Dulbecco's modified Eagle Medium (Cellgro, Fisher Scientific) supplemented 2 mM L-glutamine, 10mM HEPES and 1mM sodium pyruvate and used in the chemotaxis assays to determine the migratory response to CCL19 (Ott et al. 2004 b).

4.1.3 Therapeutic potential of CCL19 - scope in DC based vaccines

Currently, the use of DC based vaccines for treatment of various infectious diseases has become an area of great interest because of its ability to induce both cellular and humoral immune responses. Activated DCs successfully prime T cells in the context of specific antigens [Ags] which is key to breaking tolerance (Condon et al. 1996; Casares et al. 1997; Porgador et al. 1998; Akbari et al. 1999). The resting DCs are activated by adjuvants, inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, bacterial products, resulting in the upregulation of MHC-II molecules and costimulatory molecules (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 1994; Gao et al. 2005; Okada et al. 2005). Therefore, manipulating the immune regulatory capacities of APCs using chemokines as immune modulators has immense scope in vaccine design and testing of antiviral therapies (Pinto et al. 2003; Frauenschuh et al. 2004).

CCL19 functions as a leukocyte chemoattractant recruiting professional antigen presenting cells [APCs] and T lymphocytes and to the secondary lymphoid tissues (Yoshida et al. 1997; Ngo et al. 1998; Yoshida et al. 1998; Kellermann et al. 1999; Iwasaki and Kelsall 2000; Baekkevold et al. 2001). CCL19 directs the migration of mature DCs to the distinct T cell zones in the lymphoid organs thereby establishing a functional microenvironment to prime näive T cells (Kellermann et al. 1999; Kaiser et al. 2005). CCR7, the functional receptor for CCL19 is upregulated on activated DCs and promotes their migration to the lymph node in response to CCL19 (Yanagihara et al. 1998; Marsland et al. 2005). CCR7 acts as a molecular gatekeeper guiding DC and T cell migrations from the periphery to the LN where it also promotes T cell priming in the context of specific Ags (Bromley et al. 2005; Debes et al. 2005; Lira 2005).

CCL19 has also been identified as a potent inducer of DC maturation triggering the upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules and involved in the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12 and TNF- α . The critical role of CCL19 and/or CCL21 as initiators of DC maturation is established by the

observation that DCs in *plt* mice fail to mature completely after peripheral stimulation with TLR ligands and reach the LNs in a semi-mature state (Marsland et al. 2005). Thus CCL19 and CCL21 play pivotal roles in driving the maturation of PAMP-licensed DCs. These CCL19 and CCL21 activated DCs effectively differentiate thereby triggering the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines that determine the direction of subsequent T cell responses. Specifically, these cytokines are potent in inducing cytotoxic T cell and Th-1 responses (Marsland et al. 2005). This pro-inflammatory role of CCL19 has implication in initiating effective, sustained cell mediated responses against viruses.

It has also been demonstrated that due to CCL19 secretion, activated DCs are able to induce a polarized and motile state in naïve T cells. In a recent study, video microscopy imaging system has been used to capture some of the early interactions between mature DCs and naïve T cells. Human naïve T cells were incubated along with autologous monocyte derived DCs. The response of naïve T cells to immature and mature DCs was observed and compared using a video microscopy imaging system. It was found that about 60% of naïve T cells became polarized and motile in the presence of mature, activated DCs. This resulted in an effective scanning of DC surfaces by T cells, thus enhancing the chances of MHC-peptide interactions. Neutralizing antibodies to CCL19 and CCR7 resulted in approximately 92% reduction in the polarization of T cell responses. These findings conclusively support the theory that CCL19 facilitates interactions between naïve T cells and cognate Ag bearing APCs (Kaiser et al. 2005).

68

These attributes of CCR7 and CCL19 makes them potential candidates for the development of Ag specific DC based vaccines. In this regard, the CCR7 ligands have demonstrated potential in orchestrating an effective antiviral immune response against HSV in mice. In these studies, plasmid DNA encoding CCL19 and CCL2 were codelivered intranasally with plasmid DNA encoding herpes simplex virus (HSV) gB (HSV-gB) in a prime-and-boost vaccination strategy. This vaccination strategy enhanced serum and vaginal IgG and IgA levels, as well as the numbers of HSV-gB₄₉₈₋₅₀₅ peptide-specific gamma interferon-producing CD8⁺ T cells. Also, a significant number of cytotoxic T lymphocytes were observed when CCL19 and CCL21 was applied at both prime and boost in comparison to the absence of CCL19 and CCL21. These studies demonstrated that CCL19 and CCL21 expressed ectopically may serve as molecular adjuvants to boost the immune response to a codelivered antigen in mucosal surfaces (Eo et al. 2001; Toka et al. 2003).

Experimental evidence suggests that immunizing transgenic mice with hepatitis B surface antigens [HBsAg] by cytokine activated DCs can break tolerance and trigger an HBV specific CTL response (Shimizu et al. 1998; Engler et al. 2001). Cytokine activated, bone marrow derived DCs and freshly isolated splenic DCs from transgenic and non-transgenic mice were compared, in their ability to process and present the HBsAg. This was done by measuring the susceptibility of HBsAg pulsed DCs to cytolysis. Transgenic mice infused with *ex-vivo* activated DCs produce normal numbers of HBsAg specific CTLs. The *exvivo* activated DCs deliver efficient co-stimulatory signals to the anergic,

69

transgenic CTLs which enable them to mount a sustained, HBsAg specific CTL response (Shimizu et al. 1998).

In a separate study, adoptive transfer of DCs pulsed with human papilloma virus peptide [HPV], induced HPV specific CTL responses and protected mice from HPV induced tumors (Ludewig 2003). This indicates the involvement of DCs in the activation of anti-HPV T cells *in vivo*. Most DC based vaccine strategies require that the DCs be customized *in vitro*, which involves isolation of DCs and manipulation of their maturational states *in vitro*. Upon interaction with antigens, the DCs migrate to the draining lymph nodes to meet the T cells. The activated DCs secrete chemokines to which appropriate receptor bearing cells respond (Ngo et al. 1998). This is important to prime naïve T cells and initiate an antigen specific immune response.

Our interest is in using the duck model of hepatitis B for designing antiviral strategies. Identification of specific markers in duck immune cells is essential for the development of assays to characterize cell mediated immune responses. However, there are limitations in studying host immune responses to DHBV as sufficient immunological reagents are not available for the domestic duck *Anas platyrhynchos*. Functional characterization of novel chemokines and cytokines in ducks would enable effective use of the DHBV model.

Chemokines have been extensively studied in mammals. Among birds, there are few reports on chicken chemokines (Hughes et al. 2001; Kaiser et al. 2005) (Sick et al. 2000; Wang et al. 2005), but very little is known about duck chemokines. Only three members of the CC chemokine family CCL4, CCL5 and MCP-1 have been identified, but not functionally characterized in ducks (Sreekumar et al. 2005). Characterization of duck CCR7 is a critical preliminary step towards obtaining specific markers for duck immune cells. This would be helpful in characterizing the cell mediated immune responses involving DC based vaccines. In this regard, this study is the first attempt in the functional characterization of duck CCL19. These findings can be extended towards the development of duck CCL19 as a molecular adjuvant to initiate an effective DHBV antigen specific immune response in ducks.

5. REFERENCES

Akbari, O., N. Panjwani, S. Garcia, R. Tascon, D. Lowrie and B. Stockinger (1999). "DNA vaccination: transfection and activation of dendritic cells as key events for immunity." J Exp Med 189(1): 169-78.

Ali, S., A. C. Palmer, B. Banerjee, S. J. Fritchley and J. A. Kirby (2000). "Examination of the function of RANTES, MIP-1alpha, and MIP-1beta following interaction with heparin-like glycosaminoglycans." J Biol Chem 275(16): 11721-7.

Ali, S., A. C. Palmer, S. J. Fritchley, Y. Maley and J. A. Kirby (2001). "Multimerization of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is not required for glycosaminoglycan-dependent transendothelial chemotaxis." Biochem J 358(Pt 3): 737-45.

Aparicio, S., J. Chapman, E. Stupka, N. Putnam, J. M. Chia, P. Dehal, A. Christoffels, S. Rash, S. Hoon, A. Smit, M. D. Gelpke, J. Roach, T. Oh, I. Y. Ho, M. Wong, C. Detter, F. Verhoef, P. Predki, A. Tay, S. Lucas, P. Richardson, S. F. Smith, M. S. Clark, Y. J. Edwards, N. Doggett, A. Zharkikh, S. V. Tavtigian, D. Pruss, M. Barnstead, C. Evans, H. Baden, J. Powell, G. Glusman, L. Rowen, L. Hood, Y. H. Tan, G. Elgar, T. Hawkins, B. Venkatesh, D. Rokhsar and S. Brenner (2002). "Whole-genome shotgun assembly and analysis of the genome of Fugu rubripes." Science 297(5585): 1301-10.

Arenberg, D. A., P. J. Polverini, S. L. Kunkel, A. Shanafelt, J. Hesselgesser, R. Horuk and R. M. Strieter (1997). "The role of CXC chemokines in the regulation of angiogenesis in non-small cell lung cancer." J Leukoc Biol 62(5): 554-62.

Baekkevold, E. S., T. Yamanaka, R. T. Palframan, H. S. Carlsen, F. P. Reinholt, U. H. von Andrian, P. Brandtzaeg and G. Haraldsen (2001). "The CCR7 ligand elc (CCL19) is transcytosed in high endothelial venules and mediates T cell recruitment." J Exp Med 193(9): 1105-12.

Baggiolini, M., B. Dewald and B. Moser (1994). "Interleukin-8 and related chemotactic cytokines--CXC and CC chemokines." Adv Immunol 55: 97-179.

Baoprasertkul, P., C. He, E. Peatman, S. Zhang, P. Li and Z. Liu (2005). "Constitutive expression of three novel catfish CXC chemokines: homeostatic chemokines in teleost fish." Mol Immunol 42(11): 1355-66.

Basu, S., T. M. Schaefer, M. Ghosh, C. L. Fuller and T. A. Reinhart (2002). "Molecular cloning and sequencing of 25 different rhesus macaque chemokine cDNAs reveals evolutionary conservation among C, CC, CXC, AND CX3C families of chemokines." Cytokine 18(3): 140-8.

Baysal, C. and A. R. Atilgan (2001). "Elucidating the structural mechanisms for biological activity of the chemokine family." Proteins 43(2): 150-60.

Bazzoni, F., M. A. Cassatella, F. Rossi, M. Ceska, B. Dewald and M. Baggiolini (1991). "Phagocytosing neutrophils produce and release high amounts of the neutrophil-activating peptide 1/interleukin 8." J Exp Med 173(3): 771-4.

Birkenbach, M., K. Josefsen, R. Yalamanchili, G. Lenoir and E. Kieff (1993). "Epstein-Barr virus-induced genes: first lymphocyte-specific G protein-coupled peptide receptors." J Virol 67(4): 2209-20.

Bromley, S. K., S. Y. Thomas and A. D. Luster (2005). "Chemokine receptor CCR7 guides T cell exit from peripheral tissues and entry into afferent lymphatics." Nat Immunol 6(9): 895-901.

Burgstahler, R., B. Kempkes, K. Steube and M. Lipp (1995). "Expression of the chemokine receptor BLR2/EBI1 is specifically transactivated by Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen 2." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 215(2): 737-43.

Campbell, D. J., C. H. Kim and E. C. Butcher (2003). "Chemokines in the systemic organization of immunity." Immunological Reviews 195: 58-71.

Campbell, J. J., E. P. Bowman, K. Murphy, K. R. Youngman, M. A. Siani, D. A. Thompson, L. Wu, A. Zlotnik and E. C. Butcher (1998). "6-C-kine (SLC), a lymphocyte adhesion-triggering chemokine expressed by high endothelium, is an agonist for the MIP-3beta receptor CCR7." J Cell Biol 141(4): 1053-9.

Campbell, J. J., C. E. Brightling, F. A. Symon, S. Qin, K. E. Murphy, M. Hodge, D. P. Andrew, L. Wu, E. C. Butcher and A. J. Wardlaw (2001). "Expression of chemokine receptors by lung T cells from normal and asthmatic subjects." J Immunol 166(4): 2842-8.

Campbell, J. J., J. Pan and E. C. Butcher (1999). "Cutting edge: developmental switches in chemokine responses during T cell maturation." J Immunol 163(5): 2353-7.

Casares, S., K. Inaba, T. D. Brumeanu, R. M. Steinman and C. A. Bona (1997). "Antigen presentation by dendritic cells after immunization with DNA encoding a major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted viral epitope." J Exp Med 186(9): 1481-6.

Chisari, F. V. and C. Ferrari (1995). "Hepatitis B virus immunopathogenesis." Annu Rev Immunol 13: 29-60.

Clark-Lewis, I., B. Dewald, M. Loetscher, B. Moser and M. Baggiolini (1994). "Structural requirements for interleukin-8 function identified by design of analogs and CXC chemokine hybrids." J Biol Chem 269(23): 16075-81.

Clark-Lewis, I., K. S. Kim, K. Rajarathnam, J. H. Gong, B. Dewald, B. Moser, M. Baggiolini and B. D. Sykes (1995). "Structure-activity relationships of chemokines." J Leukoc Biol 57(5): 703-11.

Clore, G. M. and A. M. Gronenborn (1995). "Three-dimensional structures of alpha and beta chemokines." Faseb J 9(1): 57-62.

Combadiere, C., S. K. Ahuja, J. Van Damme, H. L. Tiffany, J. L. Gao and P. M. Murphy (1995). "Monocyte chemoattractant protein-3 is a functional ligand for CC chemokine receptors 1 and 2B." J Biol Chem 270(50): 29671-5.

Condon, C., S. C. Watkins, C. M. Celluzzi, K. Thompson and L. D. Falo, Jr. (1996). "DNA-based immunization by in vivo transfection of dendritic cells." Nat Med 2(10): 1122-8.

Cyster, J. G. (2000). "Leukocyte migration: scent of the T zone." Curr Biol 10(1): R30-3.

Debes, G. F., C. N. Arnold, A. J. Young, S. Krautwald, M. Lipp, J. B. Hay and E. C. Butcher (2005). "Chemokine receptor CCR7 required for T lymphocyte exit from peripheral tissues." Nat Immunol 6(9): 889-94.

del Pozo, M. A., C. Cabanas, M. C. Montoya, A. Ager, P. Sanchez-Mateos and F. Sanchez-Madrid (1997). "ICAMs redistributed by chemokines to cellular uropods as a mechanism for recruitment of T lymphocytes." J Cell Biol 137(2): 493-508.

DeVries, M. E., A. A. Kelvin, L. Xu, L. Ran, J. Robinson and D. J. Kelvin (2006). "Defining the origins and evolution of the chemokine/chemokine receptor system." J Immunol 176(1): 401-15.

Dieu, M. C., B. Vanbervliet, A. Vicari, J. M. Bridon, E. Oldham, S. Ait-Yahia, F. Briere, A. Zlotnik, S. Lebecque and C. Caux (1998). "Selective recruitment of immature and mature dendritic cells by distinct chemokines expressed in different anatomic sites." J Exp Med 188(2): 373-86.

Douglas, M. S., D. A. Rix, J. H. Dark, D. Talbot and J. A. Kirby (1997). "Examination of the mechanism by which heparin antagonizes activation of a model endothelium by interferon-gamma (IFN-gamma)." Clin Exp Immunol 107(3): 578-84.

Douglas, M. S., D. A. Rix, A. Larnkjaer, J. H. Dark, D. Talbot and J. A. Kirby (1997). "Blockade of the interaction between interferon-gamma and endothelial

glycosaminoglycans: a novel strategy for immunosuppression?" Transplant Proc 29(1-2): 1086-8.

Ebert, L. M., P. Schaerli and B. Moser (2005). "Chemokine-mediated control of T cell traffic in lymphoid and peripheral tissues." Mol Immunol 42(7): 799-809.

Engler, O. B., W. J. Dai, A. Sette, I. P. Hunziker, J. Reichen, W. J. Pichler and A. Cerny (2001). "Peptide vaccines against hepatitis B virus: from animal model to human studies." Mol Immunol 38(6): 457-65.

Eo, S. K., S. Lee, U. Kumaraguru and B. T. Rouse (2001). "Immunopotentiation of DNA vaccine against herpes simplex virus via co-delivery of plasmid DNA expressing CCR7 ligands." Vaccine 19(32): 4685-93.

Fernandez, E. J. and E. Lolis (2002). "Structure, function, and inhibition of chemokines." Annual Review of Pharmacology & Toxicology 42: 469-99.

Figdor, C. G., I. J. de Vries, W. J. Lesterhuis and C. J. Melief (2004). "Dendritic cell immunotherapy: mapping the way." Nat Med 10(5): 475-80.

Forssmann, U., H. J. Magert, K. Adermann, S. E. Escher and W. G. Forssmann (2001). "Hemofiltrate CC chemokines with unique biochemical properties: HCC-1/CCL14a and HCC-2/CCL15." J Leukoc Biol 70(3): 357-66.

Forster, R., A. Schubel, D. Breitfeld, E. Kremmer, I. Renner-Muller, E. Wolf and M. Lipp (1999). "CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs." Cell 99(1): 23-33.

Frauenschuh, A., A. L. DeVico, S. P. Lim, R. C. Gallo and A. Garzino-Demo (2004). "Differential polarization of immune responses by co-administration of antigens with chemokines." Vaccine 23(4): 546-54.

Gao, J. L., D. B. Kuhns, H. L. Tiffany, D. McDermott, X. Li, U. Francke and P. M. Murphy (1993). "Structure and functional expression of the human macrophage inflammatory protein 1 alpha/RANTES receptor." J Exp Med 177(5): 1421-7.

Gao, J. Q., T. Sugita, N. Kanagawa, K. Iida, N. Okada, H. Mizuguchi, T. Nakayama, T. Hayakawa, O. Yoshie, Y. Tsutsumi, T. Mayumi and S. Nakagawa (2005). "Anti-tumor responses induced by chemokine CCL19 transfected into an ovarian carcinoma model via fiber-mutant adenovirus vector." Biol Pharm Bull 28(6): 1066-70.

Goostrey, A., G. Jones and C. J. Secombes (2005). "Isolation and characterization of CXC receptor genes in a range of elasmobranchs." Dev Comp Immunol 29(3): 229-42.

Guidotti, L. G. and F. V. Chisari (1996). "To kill or to cure: options in host defense against viral infection." Curr Opin Immunol 8(4): 478-83.

Guidotti, L. G. and F. V. Chisari (2001). "Noncytolytic control of viral infections by the innate and adaptive immune response." Annu Rev Immunol 19: 65-91.

Guidotti, L. G., T. Ishikawa, M. V. Hobbs, B. Matzke, R. Schreiber and F. V. Chisari (1996). "Intracellular inactivation of the hepatitis B virus by cytotoxic T lymphocytes." Immunity 4(1): 25-36.

Guidotti, L. G., R. Rochford, J. Chung, M. Shapiro, R. Purcell and F. V. Chisari (1999). "Viral clearance without destruction of infected cells during acute HBV infection." Science 284(5415): 825-9.

Gunn, M. D. (2003). "Chemokine mediated control of dendritic cell migration and function." Seminars in Immunology 15(5): 271-6.

Gunn, M. D., S. Kyuwa, C. Tam, T. Kakiuchi, A. Matsuzawa, L. T. Williams and H. Nakano (1999). "Mice lacking expression of secondary lymphoid organ chemokine have defects in lymphocyte homing and dendritic cell localization." J Exp Med 189(3): 451-60.

Gunn, M. D., K. Tangemann, C. Tam, J. G. Cyster, S. D. Rosen and L. T. Williams (1998). "A chemokine expressed in lymphoid high endothelial venules promotes the adhesion and chemotaxis of naive T lymphocytes." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(1): 258-63.

Handel, T. M., Z. Johnson, S. E. Crown, E. K. Lau and A. E. Proudfoot (2005). "Regulation of protein function by glycosaminoglycans--as exemplified by chemokines." Annu Rev Biochem 74: 385-410.

Hasegawa, H., Y. Utsunomiya, M. Yasukawa, K. Yanagisawa and S. Fujita (1994). "Induction of G protein-coupled peptide receptor EBI 1 by human herpesvirus 6 and 7 infection in CD4+ T cells." J Virol 68(8): 5326-9.

He, C., E. Peatman, P. Baoprasertkul, H. Kucuktas and Z. Liu (2004). "Multiple CC chemokines in channel catfish and blue catfish as revealed by analysis of expressed sequence tags." Immunogenetics 56(5): 379-87.

Hedrick, J. A. and A. Zlotnik (1997). "Identification and characterization of a novel beta chemokine containing six conserved cysteines." J Immunol 159(4): 1589-93.

Hillier, L. W., W. Miller, E. Birney, W. Warren, R. C. Hardison, C. P. Ponting, P. Bork, D. W. Burt, M. A. Groenen, M. E. Delany, J. B. Dodgson, A. T. Chinwalla, P. F. Cliften, S. W. Clifton, K. D. Delehaunty, C. Fronick, R. S. Fulton, T. A.

Graves, C. Kremitzki, D. Layman, V. Magrini, J. D. McPherson, T. L. Miner, P. Minx, W. E. Nash, M. N. Nhan, J. O. Nelson, L. G. Oddy, C. S. Pohl, J. Randall-Maher, S. M. Smith, J. W. Wallis, S. P. Yang, M. N. Romanov, C. M. Rondelli, B. Paton, J. Smith, D. Morrice, L. Daniels, H. G. Tempest, L. Robertson, J. S. Masabanda, D. K. Griffin, A. Vignal, V. Fillon, L. Jacobbson, S. Kerje, L. Andersson, R. P. Crooijmans, J. Aerts, J. J. van der Poel, H. Ellegren, R. B. Caldwell, S. J. Hubbard, D. V. Grafham, A. M. Kierzek, S. R. McLaren, I. M. Overton, H. Arakawa, K. J. Beattie, Y. Bezzubov, P. E. Boardman, J. K. Bonfield, M. D. Croning, R. M. Davies, M. D. Francis, S. J. Humphray, C. E. Scott, R. G. Taylor, C. Tickle, W. R. Brown, J. Rogers, J. M. Buerstedde, S. A. Wilson, L. Stubbs, I. Ovcharenko, L. Gordon, S. Lucas, M. M. Miller, H. Inoko, T. Shiina, J. Kaufman, J. Salomonsen, K. Skjoedt, G. K. Wong, J. Wang, B. Liu, J. Wang, J. Yu, H. Yang, M. Nefedov, M. Koriabine, P. J. Dejong, L. Goodstadt, C. Webber. N. J. Dickens, I. Letunic, M. Suyama, D. Torrents, C. von Mering, E. M. Zdobnov, K. Makova, A. Nekrutenko, L. Elnitski, P. Eswara, D. C. King, S. Yang, S. Tyekucheva, A. Radakrishnan, R. S. Harris, F. Chiaromonte, J. Taylor, J. He, M. Rijnkels, S. Griffiths-Jones, A. Ureta-Vidal, M. M. Hoffman, J. Severin, S. M. Searle, A. S. Law, D. Speed, D. Waddington, Z. Cheng, E. Tuzun, E. Eichler, Z. Bao, P. Flicek, D. D. Shteynberg, M. R. Brent, J. M. Bye, E. J. Huckle, S. Chatterji, C. Dewey, L. Pachter, A. Kouranov, Z. Mourelatos, A. G. Hatzigeorgiou, A. H. Paterson, R. Ivarie, M. Brandstrom, E. Axelsson, N. Backstrom, S. Berlin, M. T. Webster, O. Pourquie, A. Reymond, C. Ucla, S. E. Antonarakis, M. Long, J. J. Emerson, E. Betran, I. Dupanloup, H. Kaessmann, A. S. Hinrichs, G. Bejerano, T. S. Furey, R. A. Harte, B. Raney, A. Siepel, W. J. Kent, D. Haussler, E. Eyras, R. Castelo, J. F. Abril, S. Castellano, F. Camara, G. Parra, R. Guigo, G. Bourque, G. Tesler, P. A. Pevzner, A. Smit, L. A. Fulton, E. R. Mardis and R. K. Wilson (2004). "Sequence and comparative analysis of the chicken genome provide unique perspectives on vertebrate evolution." Nature 432(7018): 695-716.

Hoogewerf, A. J., G. S. Kuschert, A. E. Proudfoot, F. Borlat, I. Clark-Lewis, C. A. Power and T. N. Wells (1997). "Glycosaminoglycans mediate cell surface oligomerization of chemokines." Biochemistry 36(44): 13570-8.

Hromas, R., H. E. Broxmeyer, C. Kim, K. Christopherson, 2nd and Y. H. Hou (1999). "Isolation of ALP, a novel divergent murine CC chemokine with a unique carboxy terminal extension." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 258(3): 737-40.

Hromas, R., C. H. Kim, M. Klemsz, M. Krathwohl, K. Fife, S. Cooper, C. Schnizlein-Bick and H. E. Broxmeyer (1997). "Isolation and characterization of Exodus-2, a novel C-C chemokine with a unique 37-amino acid carboxyl-terminal extension." J Immunol 159(6): 2554-8.

Hughes, S. and N. Bumstead (2000). "The gene encoding a chicken chemokine with homology to human SCYC1 maps to chromosome 1." Anim Genet 31(2): 142-3.

Hughes, S., A. Haynes, M. O'Regan and N. Bumstead (2001). "Identification, mapping, and phylogenetic analysis of three novel chicken CC chemokines." Immunogenetics 53(8): 674-83.

Imai, T., T. Yoshida, M. Baba, M. Nishimura, M. Kakizaki and O. Yoshie (1996). "Molecular cloning of a novel T cell-directed CC chemokine expressed in thymus by signal sequence trap using Epstein-Barr virus vector." J Biol Chem 271(35): 21514-21.

Inoue, Y., T. Saito, M. Endo, C. Haruta, T. Nakai, T. Moritomo and T. Nakanishi (2005). "Molecular cloning and preliminary expression analysis of banded dogfish (Triakis scyllia) CC chemokine cDNAs by use of suppression subtractive hybridization." Immunogenetics 56(10): 722-34.

Iwasaki, A. and B. L. Kelsall (2000). "Localization of distinct Peyer's patch dendritic cell subsets and their recruitment by chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3alpha, MIP-3beta, and secondary lymphoid organ chemokine." J Exp Med 191(8): 1381-94.

Johnson, Z., M. H. Kosco-Vilbois, S. Herren, R. Cirillo, V. Muzio, P. Zaratin, M. Carbonatto, M. Mack, A. Smailbegovic, M. Rose, R. Lever, C. Page, T. N. Wells and A. E. Proudfoot (2004). "Interference with heparin binding and oligomerization creates a novel anti-inflammatory strategy targeting the chemokine system." J Immunol 173(9): 5776-85.

Johnson, Z., A. E. Proudfoot and T. M. Handel (2005). "Interaction of chemokines and glycosaminoglycans: a new twist in the regulation of chemokine function with opportunities for therapeutic intervention." Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 16(6): 625-36.

Jose, P. J., D. A. Griffiths-Johnson, P. D. Collins, D. T. Walsh, R. Moqbel, N. F. Totty, O. Truong, J. J. Hsuan and T. J. Williams (1994). "Eotaxin: a potent eosinophil chemoattractant cytokine detected in a guinea pig model of allergic airways inflammation." J Exp Med 179(3): 881-7.

Kaiser, A., E. Donnadieu, J. P. Abastado, A. Trautmann and A. Nardin (2005). "CC chemokine ligand 19 secreted by mature dendritic cells increases naive T cell scanning behavior and their response to rare cognate antigen." J Immunol 175(4): 2349-56.

Kaiser, P., S. Hughes and N. Bumstead (1999). "The chicken 9E3/CEF4 CXC chemokine is the avian orthologue of IL8 and maps to chicken chromosome 4 syntenic with genes flanking the mammalian chemokine cluster." Immunogenetics 49(7-8): 673-84.

Kaiser, P., T. Y. Poh, L. Rothwell, S. Avery, S. Balu, U. S. Pathania, S. Hughes, M. Goodchild, S. Morrell, M. Watson, N. Bumstead, J. Kaufman and J. R. Young (2005). "A genomic analysis of chicken cytokines and chemokines." J Interferon Cytokine Res 25(8): 467-84.

Karl, E., K. Warner, B. Zeitlin, T. Kaneko, L. Wurtzel, T. Jin, J. Chang, S. Wang, C. Y. Wang, R. M. Strieter, G. Nunez, P. J. Polverini and J. E. Nor (2005). "Bcl-2 acts in a proangiogenic signaling pathway through nuclear factor-kappaB and CXC chemokines." Cancer Res 65(12): 5063-9.

Kellermann, S. A., S. Hudak, E. R. Oldham, Y. J. Liu and L. M. McEvoy (1999). "The CC chemokine receptor-7 ligands 6Ckine and macrophage inflammatory protein-3 beta are potent chemoattractants for in vitro- and in vivo-derived dendritic cells." J Immunol 162(7): 3859-64.

Koch, A. E., P. J. Polverini, S. L. Kunkel, L. A. Harlow, L. A. DiPietro, V. M. Elner, S. G. Elner and R. M. Strieter (1992). "Interleukin-8 as a macrophagederived mediator of angiogenesis." Science 258(5089): 1798-801.

Kothlow, S., N. K. Mannes, B. Schaerer, D. E. Rebeski, B. Kaspers and U. Schultz (2005). "Characterization of duck leucocytes by monoclonal antibodies." Dev Comp Immunol 29(8): 733-48.

Kumamoto, T., E. K. Huang, H. J. Paek, A. Morita, H. Matsue, R. F. Valentini and A. Takashima (2002). "Induction of tumor-specific protective immunity by in situ Langerhans cell vaccine." Nat Biotechnol 20(1): 64-9.

Kumar, S. and S. B. Hedges (1998). "A molecular timescale for vertebrate evolution." Nature 392(6679): 917-20.

Kunkel, E. J. and E. C. Butcher (2002). "Chemokines and the tissue-specific migration of lymphocytes." Immunity 16(1): 1-4.

Kuschert, G. S., F. Coulin, C. A. Power, A. E. Proudfoot, R. E. Hubbard, A. J. Hoogewerf and T. N. Wells (1999). "Glycosaminoglycans interact selectively with chemokines and modulate receptor binding and cellular responses." Biochemistry 38(39): 12959-68.

Kuschert, G. S., A. J. Hoogewerf, A. E. Proudfoot, C. W. Chung, R. M. Cooke, R. E. Hubbard, T. N. Wells and P. N. Sanderson (1998). "Identification of a glycosaminoglycan binding surface on human interleukin-8." Biochemistry 37(32): 11193-201.

Kuziel, W. A., S. J. Morgan, T. C. Dawson, S. Griffin, O. Smithies, K. Ley and N. Maeda (1997). "Severe reduction in leukocyte adhesion and monocyte

extravasation in mice deficient in CC chemokine receptor 2." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(22): 12053-8.

Laing, K. J. and C. J. Secombes (2004). "Chemokines." Developmental & Comparative Immunology 28(5): 443-60.

Laing, K. J. and C. J. Secombes (2004). "Trout CC chemokines: comparison of their sequences and expression patterns." Mol Immunol 41(8): 793-808.

Lally, J., F. Al-Anouti, N. Bols and B. Dixon (2003). "The functional characterisation of CK-1, a putative CC chemokine from rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)." Fish Shellfish Immunol 15(5): 411-24.

Leonard, E. J. and T. Yoshimura (1990). "Human monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)." Immunol Today 11(3): 97-101.

Lever, R. and C. P. Page (2002). "Novel drug development opportunities for heparin." Nat Rev Drug Discov 1(2): 140-8.

Limatola, C., S. Di Bartolomeo, M. Catalano, F. Trettel, S. Fucile, L. Castellani and F. Eusebi (2005). "Cysteine residues are critical for chemokine receptor CXCR2 functional properties." Exp Cell Res 307(1): 65-75.

Lira, S. A. (2005). "A passport into the lymph node." Nat Immunol 6(9): 866-8.

Lu, H., H. Zhang, Q. Wang, H. Yuan, W. He, Z. Zhao and Y. Li (2001). "Purification, refolding of hybrid hIFNgamma-kringle 5 expressed in Escherichia coli." Curr Microbiol 42(3): 211-6.

Luan, J., R. Shattuck-Brandt, H. Haghnegahdar, J. D. Owen, R. Strieter, M. Burdick, C. Nirodi, D. Beauchamp, K. N. Johnson and A. Richmond (1997). "Mechanism and biological significance of constitutive expression of MGSA/GRO chemokines in malignant melanoma tumor progression." J Leukoc Biol 62(5): 588-97.

Ludewig, B. (2003). "Dendritic cell vaccination and viral infection--animal models." Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 276: 199-214.

Luster, A. D. and J. V. Ravetch (1987). "Biochemical characterization of a gamma interferon-inducible cytokine (IP-10)." J Exp Med 166(4): 1084-97.

Luther, S. A., H. L. Tang, P. L. Hyman, A. G. Farr and J. G. Cyster (2000). "Coexpression of the chemokines ELC and SLC by T zone stromal cells and deletion of the ELC gene in the plt/plt mouse." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(23): 12694-9.

Mackenzie, S., C. Liarte, D. Iliev, J. V. Planas, L. Tort and F. W. Goetz (2004). "Characterization of a highly inducible novel CC chemokine from differentiated rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) macrophages." Immunogenetics 56(8): 611-5.

Magor, K. E., D. A. Higgins, D. L. Middleton and G. W. Warr (1994). "One gene encodes the heavy chains for three different forms of IgY in the duck." J Immunol 153(12): 5549-55.

Magor, K. E., G. W. Warr, D. Middleton, M. R. Wilson and D. A. Higgins (1992). "Structural relationship between the two IgY of the duck, Anas platyrhynchos: molecular genetic evidence." J Immunol 149(8): 2627-33.

Maho, A., A. Carter, A. Bensimon, G. Vassart and M. Parmentier (1999). "Physical mapping of the CC-chemokine gene cluster on the human 17q11. 2 region." Genomics 59(2): 213-23.

Mangisa, N. P., H. E. Smuts, A. Kramvis, C. W. Linley, M. Skelton, T. J. Tucker, M. H. P. De La, D. Kahn, A. R. Jilbert and M. C. Kew (2004). "Molecular characterization of duck hepatitis B virus isolates from South African ducks." Virus Genes 28(2): 179-86.

Marsland, B. J., P. Battig, M. Bauer, C. Ruedl, U. Lassing, R. R. Beerli, K. Dietmeier, L. Ivanova, T. Pfister, L. Vogt, H. Nakano, C. Nembrini, P. Saudan, M. Kopf and M. F. Bachmann (2005). "CCL19 and CCL21 induce a potent proinflammatory differentiation program in licensed dendritic cells." Immunity 22(4): 493-505.

Mayer, M. R. and M. J. Stone (2001). "Identification of receptor binding and activation determinants in the N-terminal and N-loop regions of the CC chemokine eotaxin." J Biol Chem 276(17): 13911-6.

McCornack, M. A., D. M. Boren and P. J. LiWang (2004). "Glycosaminoglycan disaccharide alters the dimer dissociation constant of the chemokine MIP-1 beta." Biochemistry 43(31): 10090-101.

Mellado, M., J. M. Rodriguez-Frade, S. Manes and A. C. Martinez (2001) a. "Chemokine signaling and functional responses: the role of receptor dimerization and TK pathway activation." Annu Rev Immunol 19: 397-421.

Mellado, M., J. M. Rodriguez-Frade, A. J. Vila-Coro, S. Fernandez, A. Martin de Ana, D. R. Jones, J. L. Toran and A. C. Martinez (2001) b. "Chemokine receptor homo- or heterodimerization activates distinct signaling pathways." Embo J 20(10): 2497-507.

Menne, S. and B. C. Tennant (1999). "Unraveling hepatitis B virus infection of mice and men (and woodchucks and ducks)." Nat Med 5(10): 1125-6.

Middleton, J., S. Neil, J. Wintle, I. Clark-Lewis, H. Moore, C. Lam, M. Auer, E. Hub and A. Rot (1997). "Transcytosis and surface presentation of IL-8 by venular endothelial cells." Cell 91(3): 385-95.

Middleton, J., A. M. Patterson, L. Gardner, C. Schmutz and B. A. Ashton (2002). "Leukocyte extravasation: chemokine transport and presentation by the endothelium." Blood 100(12): 3853-60.

Moser, B. and P. Loetscher (2001). "Lymphocyte traffic control by chemokines." Nat Immunol 2(2): 123-8.

Moser, B., C. Schumacher, V. von Tscharner, I. Clark-Lewis and M. Baggiolini (1991). "Neutrophil-activating peptide 2 and gro/melanoma growth-stimulatory activity interact with neutrophil-activating peptide 1/interleukin 8 receptors on human neutrophils." J Biol Chem 266(16): 10666-71.

Moser, B., M. Wolf, A. Walz and P. Loetscher (2004). "Chemokines: multiple levels of leukocyte migration control." Trends in Immunology 25(2): 75-84.

Muller, S., B. Dorner, U. Korthauer, H. W. Mages, M. D'Apuzzo, G. Senger and R. A. Kroczek (1995). "Cloning of ATAC, an activation-induced, chemokinerelated molecule exclusively expressed in CD8+ T lymphocytes." Eur J Immunol 25(6): 1744-8.

Murphy, P. M. (1994). "The molecular biology of leukocyte chemoattractant receptors." Annu Rev Immunol 12: 593-633.

Murphy, P. M., M. Baggiolini, I. F. Charo, C. A. Hebert, R. Horuk, K. Matsushima, L. H. Miller, J. J. Oppenheim and C. A. Power (2000). "International union of pharmacology. XXII. Nomenclature for chemokine receptors." Pharmacological Reviews 52(1): 145-76.

Nagira, M., T. Imai, K. Hieshima, J. Kusuda, M. Ridanpaa, S. Takagi, M. Nishimura, M. Kakizaki, H. Nomiyama and O. Yoshie (1997). "Molecular cloning of a novel human CC chemokine secondary lymphoid-tissue chemokine that is a potent chemoattractant for lymphocytes and mapped to chromosome 9p13." J Biol Chem 272(31): 19518-24.

Nakano, H. and M. D. Gunn (2001). "Gene duplications at the chemokine locus on mouse chromosome 4: multiple strain-specific haplotypes and the deletion of secondary lymphoid-organ chemokine and EBI-1 ligand chemokine genes in the plt mutation." J Immunol 166(1): 361-9.

Nakano, H., S. Mori, H. Yonekawa, H. Nariuchi, A. Matsuzawa and T. Kakiuchi (1998). "A novel mutant gene involved in T-lymphocyte-specific homing into peripheral lymphoid organs on mouse chromosome 4." Blood 91(8): 2886-95.

Nardese, V., R. Longhi, S. Polo, F. Sironi, C. Arcelloni, R. Paroni, C. DeSantis, P. Sarmientos, M. Rizzi, M. Bolognesi, V. Pavone and P. Lusso (2001). "Structural determinants of CCR5 recognition and HIV-1 blockade in RANTES." Nat Struct Biol 8(7): 611-5.

Ngo, V. N., H. L. Tang and J. G. Cyster (1998). "Epstein-Barr virus-induced molecule 1 ligand chemokine is expressed by dendritic cells in lymphoid tissues and strongly attracts naive T cells and activated B cells." J Exp Med 188(1): 181-91.

Ohl, L., M. Mohaupt, N. Czeloth, G. Hintzen, Z. Kiafard, J. Zwirner, T. Blankenstein, G. Henning and R. Forster (2004). "CCR7 governs skin dendritic cell migration under inflammatory and steady-state conditions." Immunity 21(2): 279-88.

Okada, N., N. Mori, R. Koretomo, Y. Okada, T. Nakayama, O. Yoshie, H. Mizuguchi, T. Hayakawa, S. Nakagawa, T. Mayumi, T. Fujita and A. Yamamoto (2005). "Augmentation of the migratory ability of DC-based vaccine into regional lymph nodes by efficient CCR7 gene transduction." Gene Ther 12(2): 129-39.

Ott, T. R., F. M. Lio, D. Olshefski, X. J. Liu, R. S. Struthers and N. Ling (2004) a. "Determinants of high-affinity binding and receptor activation in the N-terminus of CCL-19 (MIP-3 beta)." Biochemistry 43(12): 3670-8.

Ott, T. R., A. Pahuja, S. A. Nickolls, D. G. Alleva and R. S. Struthers (2004) b. "Identification of CC chemokine receptor 7 residues important for receptor activation." J Biol Chem 279(41): 42383-92.

Parent, C. A., B. J. Blacklock, W. M. Froehlich, D. B. Murphy and P. N. Devreotes (1998). "G protein signaling events are activated at the leading edge of chemotactic cells." Cell 95(1): 81-91.

Peatman, E., B. Bao, P. Baoprasertkul and Z. Liu (2005). "In silico identification and expression analysis of 12 novel CC chemokines in catfish." Immunogenetics 57(6): 409-19.

Peatman, E., B. Bao, X. Peng, P. Baoprasertkul, Y. Brady and Z. Liu (2005). "Catfish CC chemokines: genomic clustering, duplications, and expression after bacterial infection with Edwardsiella ictaluri." Mol Genet Genomics: 1-13.

Peled, A., I. Petit, O. Kollet, M. Magid, T. Ponomaryov, T. Byk, A. Nagler, H. Ben-Hur, A. Many, L. Shultz, O. Lider, R. Alon, D. Zipori and T. Lapidot (1999).

"Dependence of human stem cell engraftment and repopulation of NOD/SCID mice on CXCR4." Science 283(5403): 845-8.

Pinto, A. R., A. Reyes-Sandoval and H. C. Ertl (2003). "Chemokines and TRANCE as genetic adjuvants for a DNA vaccine to rabies virus." Cell Immunol 224(2): 106-13.

Porgador, A., K. R. Irvine, A. Iwasaki, B. H. Barber, N. P. Restifo and R. N. Germain (1998). "Predominant role for directly transfected dendritic cells in antigen presentation to CD8+ T cells after gene gun immunization." J Exp Med 188(6): 1075-82.

Proudfoot, A. E., T. M. Handel, Z. Johnson, E. K. Lau, P. LiWang, I. Clark-Lewis, F. Borlat, T. N. Wells and M. H. Kosco-Vilbois (2003). "Glycosaminoglycan binding and oligomerization are essential for the in vivo activity of certain chemokines." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(4): 1885-90.

Rajarathnam, K., Y. Li, T. Rohrer and R. Gentz (2001). "Solution structure and dynamics of myeloid progenitor inhibitory factor-1 (MPIF-1), a novel monomeric CC chemokine." J Biol Chem 276(7): 4909-16.

Randolph, G. J., V. Angeli and M. A. Swartz (2005). "Dendritic-cell trafficking to lymph nodes through lymphatic vessels." Nat Rev Immunol 5(8): 617-28.

Randolph, G. J., G. Sanchez-Schmitz and V. Angeli (2005). "Factors and signals that govern the migration of dendritic cells via lymphatics: recent advances." Springer Semin Immunopathol 26(3): 273-87.

Reiss, Y., A. E. Proudfoot, C. A. Power, J. J. Campbell and E. C. Butcher (2001). "CC chemokine receptor (CCR)4 and the CCR10 ligand cutaneous T cellattracting chemokine (CTACK) in lymphocyte trafficking to inflamed skin." J Exp Med 194(10): 1541-7.

Rollins, B. J. (1997). "Chemokines." Blood 90(3): 909-28.

Rossi, D. and A. Zlotnik (2000). "The biology of chemokines and their receptors." Annu Rev Immunol 18: 217-42.

Rossi, D. L., A. P. Vicari, K. Franz-Bacon, T. K. McClanahan and A. Zlotnik (1997). "Identification through bioinformatics of two new macrophage proinflammatory human chemokines: MIP-3alpha and MIP-3beta." J Immunol 158(3): 1033-6.

Sallusto, F. and A. Lanzavecchia (1994). "Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by

granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha." J Exp Med 179(4): 1109-18.

Sallusto, F. and A. Lanzavecchia (2000). "Understanding dendritic cell and Tlymphocyte traffic through the analysis of chemokine receptor expression." Immunol Rev 177: 134-40.

Sallusto, F., P. Schaerli, P. Loetscher, C. Schaniel, D. Lenig, C. R. Mackay, S. Qin and A. Lanzavecchia (1998). "Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation." Eur J Immunol 28(9): 2760-9.

Sanchez-Madrid, F. and M. A. del Pozo (1999). "Leukocyte polarization in cell migration and immune interactions." Embo J 18(3): 501-11.

Schall, T. J., K. Bacon, K. J. Toy and D. V. Goeddel (1990). "Selective attraction of monocytes and T lymphocytes of the memory phenotype by cytokine RANTES." Nature 347(6294): 669-71.

Schultz, U. and F. V. Chisari (1999). "Recombinant duck interferon gamma inhibits duck hepatitis B virus replication in primary hepatocytes." J Virol 73(4): 3162-8.

Sette, A. D., C. Oseroff, J. Sidney, J. Alexander, R. W. Chesnut, K. Kakimi, L. G. Guidotti and F. V. Chisari (2001). "Overcoming T cell tolerance to the hepatitis B virus surface antigen in hepatitis B virus-transgenic mice." J Immunol 166(2): 1389-97.

Sherry, B., P. Tekamp-Olson, C. Gallegos, D. Bauer, G. Davatelis, S. D. Wolpe, F. Masiarz, D. Coit and A. Cerami (1988). "Resolution of the two components of macrophage inflammatory protein 1, and cloning and characterization of one of those components, macrophage inflammatory protein 1 beta." J Exp Med 168(6): 2251-9.

Shimizu, Y., L. G. Guidotti, P. Fowler and F. V. Chisari (1998). "Dendritic cell immunization breaks cytotoxic T lymphocyte tolerance in hepatitis B virus transgenic mice." J Immunol 161(9): 4520-9.

Shriver, Z., D. Liu and R. Sasisekharan (2002). "Emerging views of heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycan structure/activity relationships modulating dynamic biological functions." Trends Cardiovasc Med 12(2): 71-7.

Sick, C., K. Schneider, P. Staeheli and K. C. Weining (2000). "Novel chicken CXC and CC chemokines." Cytokine 12(3): 181-6.

Smith, J., D. Speed, A. S. Law, E. J. Glass and D. W. Burt (2004). "In-silico identification of chicken immune-related genes." Immunogenetics 56(2): 122-33.

Soriano, S. F., A. Serrano, P. Hernanz-Falcon, A. Martin de Ana, M. Monterrubio, C. Martinez, J. M. Rodriguez-Frade and M. Mellado (2003). "Chemokines integrate JAK/STAT and G-protein pathways during chemotaxis and calcium flux responses." Eur J Immunol 33(5): 1328-33.

Sozzani, S., P. Allavena, G. D'Amico, W. Luini, G. Bianchi, M. Kataura, T. Imai, O. Yoshie, R. Bonecchi and A. Mantovani (1998). "Differential regulation of chemokine receptors during dendritic cell maturation: a model for their trafficking properties." J Immunol 161(3): 1083-6.

Sreekumar, E., A. Premraj, D. S. Arathy and T. J. Rasool (2005). "Identification, sequence characterization, and analysis of expression profiles of three novel CC chemokines from domestic duck (Anas platyrhynchos)." Immunogenetics 57(5): 364-73.

Stein, J. V., A. Rot, Y. Luo, M. Narasimhaswamy, H. Nakano, M. D. Gunn, A. Matsuzawa, E. J. Quackenbush, M. E. Dorf and U. H. von Andrian (2000). "The CC chemokine thymus-derived chemotactic agent 4 (TCA-4, secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine, 6Ckine, exodus-2) triggers lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1-mediated arrest of rolling T lymphocytes in peripheral lymph node high endothelial venules." J Exp Med 191(1): 61-76.

Strieter, R. M., P. J. Polverini, S. L. Kunkel, D. A. Arenberg, M. D. Burdick, J. Kasper, J. Dzuiba, J. Van Damme, A. Walz, D. Marriott and et al. (1995). "The functional role of the ELR motif in CXC chemokine-mediated angiogenesis." J Biol Chem 270(45): 27348-57.

Swaminathan, G. J., D. E. Holloway, R. A. Colvin, G. K. Campanella, A. C. Papageorgiou, A. D. Luster and K. R. Acharya (2003). "Crystal structures of oligomeric forms of the IP-10/CXCL10 chemokine." Structure 11(5): 521-32.

Tanabe, S., Z. Lu, Y. Luo, E. J. Quackenbush, M. A. Berman, L. A. Collins-Racie, S. Mi, C. Reilly, D. Lo, K. A. Jacobs and M. E. Dorf (1997). "Identification of a new mouse beta-chemokine, thymus-derived chemotactic agent 4, with activity on T lymphocytes and mesangial cells." J Immunol 159(11): 5671-9.

Tang, H. and A. McLachlan (2002). "Avian and Mammalian hepadnaviruses have distinct transcription factor requirements for viral replication." J Virol 76(15): 7468-72.

Thimme, R., S. Wieland, C. Steiger, J. Ghrayeb, K. A. Reimann, R. H. Purcell and F. V. Chisari (2003). "CD8(+) T cells mediate viral clearance and disease pathogenesis during acute hepatitis B virus infection." J Virol 77(1): 68-76.

Tiffany, H. L., L. L. Lautens, J. L. Gao, J. Pease, M. Locati, C. Combadiere, W. Modi, T. I. Bonner and P. M. Murphy (1997). "Identification of CCR8: a human monocyte and thymus receptor for the CC chemokine I-309." J Exp Med 186(1): 165-70.

Toka, F. N., M. Gierynska and B. T. Rouse (2003). "Codelivery of CCR7 ligands as molecular adjuvants enhances the protective immune response against herpes simplex virus type 1." J Virol 77(23): 12742-52.

Uehara, S., A. Grinberg, J. M. Farber and P. E. Love (2002). "A role for CCR9 in T lymphocyte development and migration." J Immunol 168(6): 2811-9.

Vassileva, G., H. Soto, A. Zlotnik, H. Nakano, T. Kakiuchi, J. A. Hedrick and S. A. Lira (1999). "The reduced expression of 6Ckine in the plt mouse results from the deletion of one of two 6Ckine genes." J Exp Med 190(8): 1183-8.

Wang, J., D. L. Adelson, A. Yilmaz, S. H. Sze, Y. Jin and J. J. Zhu (2005). "Genomic organization, annotation, and ligand-receptor inferences of chicken chemokines and chemokine receptor genes based on comparative genomics." BMC Genomics 6(1): 45.

Wang, W., H. Soto, E. R. Oldham, M. E. Buchanan, B. Homey, D. Catron, N. Jenkins, N. G. Copeland, D. J. Gilbert, N. Nguyen, J. Abrams, D. Kershenovich, K. Smith, T. McClanahan, A. P. Vicari and A. Zlotnik (2000). "Identification of a novel chemokine (CCL28), which binds CCR10 (GPR2)." J Biol Chem 275(29): 22313-23.

Yanagihara, S., E. Komura, J. Nagafune, H. Watarai and Y. Yamaguchi (1998). "EBI1/CCR7 is a new member of dendritic cell chemokine receptor that is upregulated upon maturation." J Immunol 161(6): 3096-102.

Ye, J., K. L. Mayer, M. R. Mayer and M. J. Stone (2001). "NMR solution structure and backbone dynamics of the CC chemokine eotaxin-3." Biochemistry 40(26): 7820-31.

Ye, J., K. L. Mayer and M. J. Stone (1999). "Backbone dynamics of the human CC-chemokine eotaxin." J Biomol NMR 15(2): 115-24.

Yoshida, R., T. Imai, K. Hieshima, J. Kusuda, M. Baba, M. Kitaura, M. Nishimura, M. Kakizaki, H. Nomiyama and O. Yoshie (1997). "Molecular cloning of a novel human CC chemokine EBI1-ligand chemokine that is a specific functional ligand for EBI1, CCR7." J Biol Chem 272(21): 13803-9.

Yoshida, R., M. Nagira, T. Imai, M. Baba, S. Takagi, Y. Tabira, J. Akagi, H. Nomiyama and O. Yoshie (1998). "EBI1-ligand chemokine (ELC) attracts a broad spectrum of lymphocytes: activated T cells strongly up-regulate CCR7 and efficiently migrate toward ELC." Int Immunol 10(7): 901-10.

Yoshida, R., M. Nagira, M. Kitaura, N. Imagawa, T. Imai and O. Yoshie (1998). "Secondary lymphoid-tissue chemokine is a functional ligand for the CC chemokine receptor CCR7." J Biol Chem 273(12): 7118-22.

Zabel, B. A., W. W. Agace, J. J. Campbell, H. M. Heath, D. Parent, A. I. Roberts, E. C. Ebert, N. Kassam, S. Qin, M. Zovko, G. J. LaRosa, L. L. Yang, D. Soler, E. C. Butcher, P. D. Ponath, C. M. Parker and D. P. Andrew (1999). "Human G protein-coupled receptor GPR-9-6/CC chemokine receptor 9 is selectively expressed on intestinal homing T lymphocytes, mucosal lymphocytes, and thymocytes and is required for thymus-expressed chemokine-mediated chemotaxis." J Exp Med 190(9): 1241-56.